# STRAIN-BASED PIEZOELECTRIC ENERGY HARVESTERS FOR

# INTELLIGENT TIRE SENSORS

A Dissertation

Submitted to

The Graduate Faculty of The University of Akron

Haniph Aliniagerdroudbari

December 2021

# STRAIN-BASED PIEZOELECTRIC ENERGY HARVESTERS FOR

# INTELLIGENT TIRE SENSORS

Haniph Aliniagerdroudbari

Dissertation

Approved:

Accepted:

Adviser Dr. Siamak Farhad

Committee Member

Dr. Gopal Nadkarni

Committee Member Dr. Chen ling

Committee Member Dr. Ping Yi

Committee Member Dr. Truyen Nguyen Department Chair Dr. Sergio D. Felicelli

Interim Dean of College Dr. Craig Menzemer

Dean of the Graduate School Dr. Marnie Saunders

Date

# ABSTRACT

Nowadays, the automotive industry is paying more attention to autonomous vehicles; as a result, the importance of tire safety is increased. Since tires are the only contact between the vehicle and the road, monitoring the parameters such as tire pressure and temperature, friction between tire and road, and tire wear is essential to ensure vehicle safety. These parameters are monitored with the sensors embedded in intelligent tires. These sensors need electric power for operation. To provide the electric power for the intelligent tire sensors, piezoelectric energy harvesters (PEHs) can be used to harvest a part of tire deflection waste energy to provide electric power to the sensors.

Two new shapes of piezoelectric energy harvester inspired from Cymbal piezoelectric energy harvester were designed. It has been proven that the Cymbal piezoelectric energy harvester is effective in vibration energy harvesting. Two new shapes are inspired by cymbal energy harvester, and they are developed to harvest strain energy from rolling tires. It is the first time this type of energy harvester based on the Cymbal geometry is used for the intelligent tire application. To ensure that these new designs will be safely and effectively embedded on the inner surface of tires, some modification on the shape, size, and design was made. The output voltage, power, and energy of the designed PEHs were evaluated through the developed Multiphysics model and experimental analysis. In order to run the experimental analysis, a wireless measurement system is developed. The

PEH will be undergoing cyclic loading in the tire application. Therefore, the fatigue failure of the piezoelectric material is also considered in the design stage. The PEH is designed to be used in autonomous vehicles tire to provide power to the tire sensors. Due to this application, the PEH is subjected to temperature change, tire inflation changes, vehicle speed changes, and tire load changes due to this application. Therefore, in this study, some parametric analysis is done to investigate the effect of these changes on the PEH performance. The parametric study with the use of the COMSOL Multiphysics model is done. In this study, the effect of vehicle speed, PEH depth, piezoelectric material thickness, and temperature on the output of the PEH is investigated. The parametric experimental study is done to study the effect of tire inflation pressure and tire load on the output voltage of the PEH. The model output showed that the harvested energy from each new design is sufficient to power up several sensors in intelligent tires. These new designs showed several advantages, such as high performance and ease of manufacturing.

Dedicated

to

The beloved families of 176 victims of Flight PS752, which was shot down shortly after

taking off by Iranian IRGC surface-to-air missiles





# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my advisor Dr. Siamak Farhad for his encouragement throughout my Ph.D. His expertise was invaluable in formulating the research questions and methodology, and I had the opportunity to learn from him during the period I was at Advanced Energy and Sensors Lab.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Gopal Nadkarni, Dr. Chen Ling, Dr. Ping Yi, and Dr. Truyen Van Nguyen, for their valuable time, comments, and feedback, which helped me improve the quality of this work.

In Addition, I would like to express my most profound appreciation to my best friend and my wife, Roja, who provided stimulating discussions as well as happy distractions to rest my mind outside of my research.

Last but not least, I am forever indebted to my parents for their unconditional trust, timely encouragement, and endless patience. They selflessly encouraged me to explore new directions in life and seek my own destiny.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OI	F TABLES	X
LIST OI	F FIGURES	xi
CHAPT	ER	
I. INTR	ODUCTION	1
1.1.	Dissertation overview	2
II. BAC	KGROUND	4
2.1.	Intelligent tires	4
2.1.1	. Intelligent tires sensors	6
2.2.	Energy harvesting	6
2.2.1	. Piezoelectric effect	7
2.3.	Research Gap	8
2.3.1	. Energy harvesting for tire application	8
2.3.2	. Importance of temperature analysis on the PEH for tire application	9
2.4.	Copyright notice	11
III. PEH	I MODELING	12
3.1.	Outline	12
3.2.	Energy demand	12
3.3.	Tire bending	13
3.4.	Adhesive layer	15
3.5.	Piezoelectric material selection	17
3.5.1	. Stress and strain analysis	17
3.6.	Fatigue analysis	19
3.7.	Reliability analysis	21
3.8.	Energy harvesting efficiency	22

	3.9.	Effect of temperatures on the PEH performance	23
	3.10.	Modeling process	24
	3.11.	Copyright notice	26
I	V. DES	IGN AND MODELING DIFFERENT SHAPES OF THE PIEZOELECTRIC	
E	NERG	Y HARVESTER AND EXPERIMENTAL SETUP	27
	4.1.	Outline	27
	4.2.	PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester	27
	4.2.1	First design based on the Cymbal energy harvester	30
	4.2.2	Second design based on the Cymbal energy harvester	33
	4.2.3	Cymbal energy harvester modeling	36
	4.3.	Experimental setup	38
	4.4.	Copyright notice	44
V	. RESU	JLTS AND DISCUSSION	45
	5.1.	Outline	45
	5.2.	Model validation	45
	5.3.	Mesh independency analysis	48
	5.4.	Tire deflection	49
	5.5.	PEH output power, voltage and energy	51
	5.5.1	First PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester output power,	
	voltag	ge, and energy	51
	5.5.2	Second PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester output power,	52
	voltag	ge, and energy	33
	5.6.	Energy harvesting efficiency	
	5.7.	Stress Analysis	56
	5.8.	Parametric analysis	59
	5.8.1.	Effect of vehicle speed	59
	5.8.2.	Effect of PEH dimensions	60
	5.9.	Effect of temperature on the PEH performance	62
	5.10.	Experimental Analysis	64
	5.11.	Broader impact of the PEH	70
	5.12.	Copyright notice	71
V	I. SUN	IMARY AND CONCLUSION	72
А	rrein		/0

APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	79
REFERENCES	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. The material and model input parameters for the first design of the PEH based on Cymbal energy harvester	32
2. The material and model input parameters for the second design of the PEH based on Cymbal energy harvester	36
3. Material properties of the built PEH components	39

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Pag	ge
1. Schematic of the intelligent tire monitoring sensors and wireless communication with central receiver of the vehicle.	. 5
2. Analytical modeling process and coupling of the equations	25
3. Original Cymbal PEH shape [105]	28
4. The first PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape embedded on the inner layer of the tire	30
5. First PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape	33
6. The second PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape embedded on the inner layer of the tire	34
7. Second PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape	35
8. Top and bottom layers of the PEH manufactured from low carbon steel by the use of the waterjet cutting method.	40
9. Design and dimensions of the PEH	40
10. The experimental setup. The PEH and the measurement system are mounted on the inner layer of the tire	42
11. The experimental setup. The tire setup on the Road Force Elite machine [109]	43
12. Cymbal energy harvester geometry used for validation with experimental results reported by Daniels et al. [105]	47
13. Comparison of the developed model with Daniels et al. [105] experimental results for 50N constant excitation force at 2 Hz	47
14. The finite element discretized model geometry of the first PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester	49
15. Strain of inner surface of a 235/60R18 tire traveling at 40 km/h for one complete rotation.	50
16. The first designed PEH output electric power for one full rotation of tire	52
17. The first designed PEH output electric voltage for one full rotation of tire	52
18. The second designed PEH output electric power for one full rotation of tire	53
19. The second designed PEH output electric voltage for one full rotation of tire	54
20. The effect of the PEH first design thickness on the output electric energy for one full rotation of tire	57
21. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=78 ms	58

22. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=86 ms	58
23. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=103 ms	59
24. The effect of the PEH first design thickness on the output electric energy for one full rotation of tire	61
21. The effect of the depth of PEH first design on the accumulated harvested energy for one full rotation of tire	62
26. The effect of the tire air temperature on the accumulated harvested energy from the first designed PEH for one full rotation of tire.	63
27. The output electric power of the first PEH with the 0.5mm PZT-5H thickness, predicted from the COMSOL Multiphysiscs model for one full rotation of tire	65
28. The experimental output power of the first PEH at the tire normal load of 368 kg and the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi	66
29. The experimental output voltage of the PEH at the tire normal load of 368 kg and 112 kg and the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi	68
30. The experimental output voltage of the PEH at the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi and 20 psi at the tire normal load of 368 kg	69

## CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

In recent years, autonomous vehicles have been at the forefront of the vehicle industry's attention. As autonomous vehicles do not have drivers thus their safety is paramount [1]. Tires are the only connection that the vehicle has with the pavement; as a result, the safety of tires is critical to maintaining the safety vehicle and passengers. In order to monitor the tire condition and the tire-road conditions for autonomous vehicles, intelligent tires are presented. Intelligent tires use sensors embedded on them to monitor the tire and tire-rad condition and send these data to the vehicle computer center to be processed. The sensors embedded on the tire need power to collect the data and transmit it to the vehicle computer center. Usually, batteries are the primary power source for intelligent tire batteries increase the tire maintenance intervals. Therefore, energy harvesting systems are suggested to be used in intelligent tires as a sustainable source of energy [2]. Energy harvester systems convert a portion of ambient waste energy into valuable energy [3-5].

In this study new shape of PEH is designed, and with the use of the developed Multiphysics model, the output power, voltage, and energy are studied. The new shape of the PEH is inspired by the Cymbal energy harvester [6]. There are few studies on the PEH for the tire application that is the inspiration to design new shapes of the PEH that are applicable and are not complicated to manufacture. The developed PEH in this study is never used before. The proposed designs have several advantages, such as ease of manufacturing compared to the designs presented in the literature.

## 1.1. Dissertation overview

The introduction section briefly discusses the importance of tire and vehicles safety, autonomous vehicles, and the necessity of energy harvesting for autonomous vehicles. This work is focused on designing a new strain-based piezoelectric energy harvester (PEH) for monitoring the tire. For this purpose, in Chapter 2 a background of the energy harvesting piezoelectric effect is given. In addition, in Chapter 2, The available approaches of energy harvesting for tire application is studied. Finally, in the research gap section in Chapter 2, the drawbacks of the vibration-based energy harvesters for tire application are given.

Chapter 3 gives a discussion on the parameters of the PEH design and modeling. The energy demand of the sensors

Chapter 4 gives a discussion on the design methodology. The new energy harvesters' shape and geometry are discussed. In addition, the Comsol Multiphysics model of the energy harvester is presented in this chapter. The material properties chosen for the experimental analysis and experimental setup and measurement system are presented in this chapter. The stress, stain, and fatigue analysis are presented in this chapter.

In Chapter 5 discussion of the results obtained from the new proposed PEH is given. First, the validation process of the Multiphysics model and mesh independency analysis is given. Then, the tire deflection as an input for the model is calculated. The output voltage, power, and energy obtained from the new PEHs are given and compared. It is experimentally observed that the generated power by the piezoelectric energy harvester is enough to run the sensors. The parametric study using the COMSOL Multiphysics model is done. The effect of vehicle speed, PEH depth, and piezoelectric material thickness on PEH output is investigated. The parametric experimental study is done to study the effect of tire inflation pressure and tire load on the output voltage of the PEH. The tire is used in different ambient temperatures; it is evident that as the tire roles, the tire temperature increases. Thus, here the effect of temperature on the proposed PEHs performances is considered.

Chapter 6 gives the summary and conclusion of the results of this dissertation.

## CHAPTER II

#### BACKGROUND

The background of tire piezoelectric energy harvesting is discussed in this chapter. First, the intelligent tire is discussed. Second, the piezoelectric material behavior is discussed, and an introduction to the piezoelectric effect is given. The energy harvesting methods for tire application are introduced, and the drawbacks of these methods are studied.

### 2.1. Intelligent tires

The only interface between the vehicle and pavement is the tire; therefore, the tire plays a vital role in vehicle safety. in 2000, Bridgestone recalled the tires, and as a result of this recall, the United States Transportation Recall Enhancement, Accountability, and Documentation (TREAD) force via its regulations that the tire pressure monitoring system (TPMS) should be installed on all the new vehicles that were the first step to develop the intelligent tires [7]. To satisfy the tire safety requirements, especially for autonomous vehicles, the auto industry is seeking a comprehensive and cost-efficient monitoring system to better track the conditions of tires. At the first step of using sensors on the tire, the TPMS was the indirect measurement system to measure the tire pressure based on the wheel radius calculation [8] or using wheel speed sensors [9]. In 2005, Yokohama Rubber Company

reported that sensors mounted on wheels and within tires can detect vehicle motions 0.15-0.2 seconds faster than sensors mounted on the vehicle body [10]. Thus, it is important to mount some safety monitoring sensors inside the tire rather than other vehicle locations. Over the past few years, the installation of sensors inside tires for measuring and quantifying various parameters such as tire pressure, braking distance, contact path length, friction coefficient, slip angle, road condition, and tire wear has been given more attention by the auto industry. The direct and in-situ measurements of tire parameters lead to the development of 'intelligent tires,' mostly known as 'smart tires' to improve vehicle safety [11].

The tire monitoring system shown in Figure 1, includes wireless sensors mounted inside the tire to measure the tire parameters and a central receiver to receive the sensor signals and analyze data. Whenever the vehicle control system detects any fault in the tire, it warns the driver or may stop the autonomous vehicle to ensure passengers' safety.



Figure 1. Schematic of the intelligent tire monitoring sensors and wireless communication with a central receiver of the vehicle.

### 2.1.1. Intelligent tires sensors

Passive and active wireless transmission can be used between tires and vehicles [7]. Passive wireless transmission requires a separately implemented data acquisition system that merely transmits the data whenever any fault is detected, such as temperature change or pressure drop. In contrast, the active wireless transmission requires a power source. It simultaneously transfers data which makes it a better choice for autonomous vehicles, where having them under control every second of running is required. In addition, it is critically important to provide self-sustaining energy for the tire embedded sensors. Batteries are one option for active wireless transmission; however, batteries embedded in intelligent tires cannot be used for a long time due to the necessity of replacement, recharging, and maintenance [12, 13]. This increases the maintenance intervals of tires. Therefore, batteries might not be an appropriate choice as an energy source for this application. Alternatively, an energy harvesting system is preferred to provide sufficient energy for wireless transmission in intelligent tire applications. Reviews on wireless sensor systems for tire monitoring of intelligent tires [7, 14] indicate that research for improving the output energy of energy harvesting systems is required to support a wide range of sensors embedded inside the tire.

## 2.2. Energy harvesting

An energy harvesting system provides methods to extract to-be-wasted energy from the surrounding environment [3-5]. Energy harvesting systems are used to extract a portion of different types of ambient or waste energy such as ocean wave[15-17], temperature gradient

[18], radio frequency [19], vibration[20], relative motion [21], strain [22], etc. Energy harvesting is a promising way to supply power from the vehicle wasted energy to small onboard electrical equipment [23-25]. In tires, several sources of waste energy are available such as temperature, vibration, and strain [26]. Therefore, it is possible to use the energy harvester system to extract a fraction of this waste energy [27].

# 2.2.1. Piezoelectric effect

A piezoelectric material generates an electrical charge as a result of the applied mechanical force or deformation. Also, it shows deflection as a result of the applied electric charge. Due to the nature of the piezoelectric material, which can convert the stress or deflection to the electric charge, lately harvesting energy from different types of waste energy with the use of piezoelectric material in various applications has grabbed researchers attention [28-34].

Around 1000 crystal materials are considered piezoelectric and can show a piezoelectricity effect. In some of these materials' piezoelectricity occurs naturally. Also, it is possible to induce piezoelectricity in some single crystal and polycrystalline materials piezoelectricity by applying high voltage or poling. The earliest piezoelectric material used in electronic devices is Quartz, but it has a low piezoelectric coefficient. Piezoelectric materials based on modified lead zirconate titanate (PZT) ceramics are one of the common materials used in sensors and energy harvesting applications. The polymer type of piezoelectric material is polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) and is usually used for high-frequency transducers.

#### 2.3. Research Gap

#### 2.3.1. Energy harvesting for tire application

For intelligent tire applications, various types of energy harvesters are studied in the literature, and generally, they can be classified into electromagnetic [35], electrostatic [36], and piezoelectric [37]. Compared to the piezoelectric, the electromagnetic and electrostatic systems have lower output voltage. In addition, electrostatic requires an external voltage source, and the integration of electromagnetic with electronics and microsystems is complicated [38]. Furthermore, piezoelectric energy harvesters have higher energy density than electromagnetic and electrostatic energy harvesters making them more efficient. Additionally, the piezoelectric energy harvesting structure is more simple [24].

Piezoelectric material generates electrical charge as a result of the applied mechanical force or deformation. The piezoelectric energy harvester (PEH) in tire application is divided into two categories depending on how the wasted energy is being used: 1- The vibration energy (flexure [39] and rectilinear [40]), and 2- The strain-based energy (tire bending [41], and shock loads [42]). The vibration-based technology that uses a piezoelectric cantilever beam and a tip mass as a mass-spring system is a well-known configuration. With this setup, the power output within a range of 2.5-349  $\mu$ W is obtained [43]. In order to maximize the power output, this technology can take advantage of the resonant frequency of the beam, provided that the excitation frequency is known, which is not applicable for tires. Moreover, it cannot harvest the energy in multiple directions of motion; however, tires are exposed to multiple frequencies and multi-directional deflection during rolling at different speeds. Furthermore, the stabilization of the cantilever beam is

hard, and the tip mass can only be anchored within a limited distance from the base of the beam and can only have a limited weight [44].

Strain-based energy harvesters create a favorable scenario for tire applications considering the given constraints stated above[45]. Drawbacks for using vibration-based piezoelectric energy harvesters in tire application and advantages of strain-based energy harvesters are discussed by the author in Ref. [45]. Starting from the Apollo project in 2005 [35], several strain-based PEH were studied for tire applications [41, 44, 46-50]. Bowen and Arafa reviewed the PEHs used for powering up the TPMS for tire applications and reported that the power output of the strain-based PEHs is between 40  $\mu$ W to 4.5 mW [25]. The authors also introduced a strain-based rainbow piezoelectric energy harvester with a power output of 5.85 mW [22, 45]. The output power of the strain-based PEHs is significantly higher than the vibration-based technology used for tires.

## 2.3.2. Importance of temperature analysis on the PEH for tire application

The main component of the pneumatic tire is rubber which is a viscoelastic material. In viscoelastic materials, a phase difference between the stress and strain waves is somewhere between zero degrees which happens in a purely elastic material, and 90 degrees which happens in purely viscous material [51]. In the stress-strain curve of the viscoelastic materials during a full loading cycle, a hysteretic loop can be seen due to the phase difference. From the area of this hysteretic loop, the amount of heat generation and dissipation from the tire can be calculated [52, 53]. Due to the low thermal conductivity of rubbers, the generated heat leads to a temperature increase inside the rubber. For example, the thermal conductivity of the Styrene-Butadiene Rubber (SBR) is significantly lower than the steel ( $K_{SBR}$ =0.25 W/(mK) [54],  $K_{steel}$ =51.9 W/(mK) [55]).

Heat generation in the tire is affected by factors like under-inflation, overloading, speeding, and environmental factors. The temperature distribution of rolling tires has been studied by several researchers [56, 57]. It is proved that the increase in ambient temperature and vehicle velocity leads to the tire temperature rise [58-61]. In addition, temperature variations will result in a significant nonlinear behavior in the piezoelectric material coefficients in PZT ceramics [62], affecting the overall performance of strain-based piezoelectric energy harvesters.

Although there are several studies on tire temperature distribution, there is a big gap in research on the effect of tire temperature on the PEH. Here the performance of the developed PEH is studied to have a comprehensive understanding of the PEH performance in any condition in tire application.

### 2.4. Copyright notice

A significant part of this chapter was adapted with permission from the following publications:

- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R. & Farhad, S. (2021). Experimental study of a piezoelectric strain-based energy harvester for intelligent tires of autonomous vehicles.
   ASME 2021 International Mechanical Engineering Congress IMECE2021
- 2- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., Batur, C., & Farhad, S. (2019). Design, modeling, and analysis of a high-performance piezoelectric energy harvester for intelligent tires. International Journal of Energy Research, 43(10), 5199-5212.
- 3- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Nazari, A., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2019). A rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for intelligent tire monitoring applications. Journal of Energy Resources Technology, 141(6).
- 4- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., & Farhad, S. (2019). A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors. In 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI) (pp. 1-7). IEEE.
- 5- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., H., Nazari, A., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2018, June). Optimization of a rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for tire monitoring applications. In Energy Sustainability (Vol. 51418, p. V001T02A004). American Society of Mechanical Engineers.

## CHAPTER III

#### PEH MODELING

## 3.1. Outline

In this chapter, the parameters for the design and modeling process of the PEH are given in detail. The PEH is supposed to provide power to the sensors embedded on the inner surface of the tire; thus, as the first step of the design process, the energy demand is calculated. The PHE here is working based on harvesting the tire bending waste energy; therefore, it is necessary to calculate the tire bending. In addition, an adhesive layer is used to attach the PEH to the inner layer of the tire, and the effect of this adhesive layer is studied.

The piezoelectric material is brittle, and thus any piezoelectric material cannot be used in strain energy harvesting. Therefore, here the piezoelectric material selection is explained in detail. Finally, the effect of temperature on the output of the PEHs is discussed.

# 3.2. Energy demand

Any energy harvester aims to harvest part of the ambient waste energy and provide power for a specific application. Thus, a fundamental part of energy harvester modeling is to calculate the required amount of power. The energy harvester must be designed so that the energy harvester's output power amount is enough to afford the energy demand. Here the PEH for intelligent tires is supposed to harvest a portion of energy waste due to the tire rolling resistance to supply the energy demand for sensors to measure and transmit data to the vehicle control system.

The amount of energy that wireless sensors for the active wireless transmission need in each revolution of the tire can be calculated from Eq. 1 [38]:

$$E_{rev} = n_{samples} \times n_{axes} \times 50 \, pJ + (n_{bits} + 10) \times 10 nJ \tag{1}$$

where,  $n_{samples}$  is the number of samples per revolution,  $n_{axes}$  is the number of axes from which the data is acquired, and  $n_{bits}$  is the number of transmitted bits. Therefore, the required energy for a sensor to measure 1,000 samples per revolution in each axis and transmit 840 bits in each revolution (35 bytes per axis) would be 8.7 µJ/rev.

In a typical commercial tire monitoring system (TPMS), the average energy needed is assumed to be about 10  $\mu$ J/rev [63]. To reduce the amount of energy that a TPMS system uses, specific programming is required to transmit signals only once the system detects a faulty pressure or temperature. Meanwhile, in order to use the TPMS in autonomous vehicles monitoring the tire situation in every second of rolling will be necessary. If there is a need for 2 sensors to monitor different tire parameters and assume that each sensor needs 10  $\mu$ J/rev, then the PEH needs to harvest 20  $\mu$ J/rev.

### 3.3. Tire bending

As discussed before, the PEH here is a strain-based PEH which means that tire bending provides strain in the PEH, and due to the piezoelectric effect in the piezoelectric material layer, the voltage is generated. Therefore, tire bending is the input parameter in the modeling of the strain-based PEH in tire application. The second step for PEH modeling after calculating the energy demand of the tire sensors is to calculate the tire deflection.

Lateral and radial deformations around the contact point of the tire and pavement are present on the outer surface of the tire while the tire rotates around its axis. Several studies are focusing on measuring tire deformation [63, 64]. The total amount of strain increases with an increase in the applied load to the tire or the vehicle speed, while the effect of the vehicle speed may be marginal [63]. Another factor that influences the tire strain is the internal tire pressure. If the tire pressure remains constant, the lateral tire strain does not significantly influence the deflection of the PEH; therefore, only longitudinal tire strain is investigated.

The change in the tire curvature radius causes tire longitudinal strain as presented in Eq. 2 [65]:

$$\varepsilon = -\frac{Z_C - Z}{R} \tag{2}$$

where, Zc is the no-load tire radius specified by the tire manufacturer, Z is the inner surface radius, and R is the radius of tire curvature as stated in Eq. 3 [66]:

$$a = R \sin\left(\frac{L}{2R}\right) \tag{3}$$

where, L is the arc length ( $R \times \theta$ ) and  $\theta$  is the angle of the arc. In Eq. 3-2, a is the distance between the two points on the curvature ( $r_{i-1}$ ,  $r_{i+1}$ ) that can be calculated from Eq. 4 [66].

$$a = 0.5 \sqrt{\left(r_{i-1}\sin\frac{\theta}{2} - r_{i+1}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^2 + \left(r_{i-1}\cos\frac{\theta}{2} - r_{i+1}\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^2}$$
(4)

The data of radius change on 700 kg of the load presented by Lee et al. [66] is used to calculate the tire strain. The effect of the load on the tire is represented in the change of parameter a, which consequently commits to a change in radius based on Eqs. 3 and 4. The effect of the vehicle speed and tire inflation pressure may also be considered on the tire strain. It is reported that by increasing the tire rolling speed from 8 to 26 rpm, the longitudinal strain increases slightly by about 9%, and the vehicle speed does not affect the tire strain significantly [63]; thus, the effect of velocity is assumed to be negligible in this study. Although by decreasing the tire inflation pressure, the strain is increased, the rate of strain change by the effect of load and speed is almost independent of the inflation pressure [63]; therefore, it is assumed that the tire is used on the manufacturer recommended pressure. For applying the calculated strain to the PEH in COMSOL Multiphysics software, the input tire strain data (from Eq.2) concerning the vehicle speed is converted to the time domain function for one rotation of the 235/60R18 tire traveling at 40 km/h and used as a piecewise function input to prescribe displacement in COMSOL Multiphysics model.

## 3.4. Adhesive layer

In order to design the PEH system that can successfully work and provide energy to the tire sensors, all the system parts should be studied. One of the system parts is the Adhesive layer. The adhesive layer is used in order to attach the PEH structure to the inner surface of the tire. Along with the PEH structure, this adhesive layer also undergoes cyclic strain caused by tire deflection. Thus the proper adhesive material should be selected.

To choose a proper adhesive that can provide a satisfactory connection between the tire inner surface and the metal host, it is essential to know the amount of stress applied to the adhesive layer. For a vehicle weight range of 1500-3000 kg, the initial load on the tire is 3678.7 - 7357.5 N, which is approximately one-fourth of the vehicle's weight for 4-wheel vehicles. The tire resistance to the vertical load is called tire stiffness ( $\delta$ ) and is reported to be in the range of 150-250 kN/m [67]. The relation between the contact patch length (the length that the tire gets in touch with the pavement) and tire stiffness for a static tire is presented in Eq. 5 [68]:

$$L_{Patch} = 0.7Z_c \left( \frac{\delta}{Z_c} + 2.25 \sqrt{\frac{\delta}{Z_c}} \right)$$
(5)

From Eq. 5, the contact patch length would be around 165-178 mm. It is noted that the load on the contact patch and contact patch length during the tire roiling at various velocities and with different inflation pressures may change. The normal load on a tire at a speed of 56 km/h with an initial load of 707 kg is reported to be in the range of 690 to 753 kg [68]. Therefore, for a tire with 235 mm width, the stress applied to the contact patch is the normal load divided by the contact patch area, and it is around 0.174MPa - 0. 176MPa. In addition, the tire temperature increases during the rolling, and the tire may be used in a range of relative humidity; thus, the adhesive must be durable in different conditions. Cyanoacrylate is an effective commercial adhesive for bonding metal and rubber. The Cyanoacrylate has a tensile bond strength of 12 - 3 MPa in a temperature range of 25 to  $150^{\circ}$ C and 13 - 11 MPa in the range of 40% to 100% relative humidity on mild steel substrates [69]. By comparing the stress applied to the contact patch and the bond strength

of the Cyanoacrylate, it was evident that Cyanoacrylate is a reliable choice for connecting the PEH to the inner surface of the tire for various temperatures and humidity. According to the beam bending theory [70] the strain of the beam layers bonded together is different due to the difference in their elastic modulus. The strain of the Cyanoacrylate layer is reported to be about 25% of the strain of the tire inner surface [66]. This fact is used in the modeling, and only 25% of the tire inner surface strain is applied to the energy harvester.

# 3.5. Piezoelectric material selection

Typically the piezoelectric materials are brittle, and their strain and stress tolerances are limited. Here the piezoelectric material is going to be used in the strain-based energy harvesting system, and the marital undergoes several cycles of tire deflection. Thus, it was vital to study the piezoelectric material capability in handling the input tire deflection to choose the best material for the PEH system.

#### 3.5.1. Stress and strain analysis

The piezoelectric polymer Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) has a lower piezoelectric strain coefficient (d33) in comparison with piezoelectric lead zirconate titanate (PZT) ceramic. However, it has been used in several strain-based PEHs, because it can tolerate a large amount of strain (about 1%). Temperature change affects the PVDF piezoelectricity effect, and the output charge of PVDF decreases after cooling down [50]. As tire temperature increases during rolling due to friction and cools down once the vehicle stops, the piezoelectric energy harvesters made of PVDF will lose their effect after several cycles. In contrast, PZT has desirable resistance and tolerance to high temperatures but a lower strain limit.

Among PZT ceramics, the soft PZT (PZT-5H) can tolerate the maximum strain of 0.175%; however, the ordinary PZT has a lower strain level of 0.11%, and the hard PZT (PZT-8) has the lowest strain level of 0.105% [71]. The maximum longitudinal strain in the tire inner surface is about 0.3% [72]; therefore, the maximum strain of the adhesive layer would be about 0.075% (25% of the tire strain). In this study, the PZT and soft PZT-5H is chosen as the piezoelectric material for strain energy harvesting in tire since its strain level is in the range of strain transferred from the tire to the piezoelectric material through adhesive layer.

Another vital issue to consider is the yield strength. The yield strength is the point where the elastic behavior switches to plastic response to stress, as seen on a stress-strain curve. Below this point, a material will respond elastically to stress, which means it will return to its original geometry after removing the stress, and no microstructure change is seen. Moreover, beyond the yield point, there might be some microstructure change, and thus some portion of deformation is irreversible and permanent. That is why it is called plastic deformation. The amount of stress applied to the PEH host and the piezoelectric material layer should be less than the yield point. The yield straight of the PZT-5H and the metal host (Non-alloy structural steels structural steel) is 689 MPa [73] and 275 MPa [74], respectively. The stress applied to the contact path is calculated in section 3.4. the stress during the contact patch is about 0.174 MPa - 0. 176 MPa. Both yield strength of the materials is remarkably higher than the applied stress. Thus, the PEH is safe and never reaches the yield point.

## 3.6. Fatigue analysis

Fatigue is defined as system degradation upon exposure that causes a critical impact on the performance of the component over the lifespan. The degradation in piezoelectric materials depends on the variation of the dielectric properties and material properties of the piezoelectric patch that might change when exposed to cyclic loading, for example. When dealing with fatigue analysis, every component and parameter must be considered beginning with crystal growth, patch fabrication, PEH architecture, and the environmental and loading conditions that the energy harvester is subject to. Defects in the material during fabrication can be a source of weakness that can act as an initiator, which would affect piezoelectric PEHs lifespan. Understanding how piezoelectric patches will endure and ultimately fail upon exposure to these initiators will give useful information for their development. The commonly stated types of fatigue in piezoelectric materials are Crack [75-80], Leakage [81-84], Delamination [85,86], Depolarization [87,88]. Leakage happens when the cracking of the electrode happens. This impacts the ability of the patches to transport the charge flux from the generated electric field with each cycle. When a crack propagates longitudinally to the sharp interfaces within the patch or patch to substrate bond, delamination occurs. When domains shift into an alternative position, a lower net flux in the desired direction of the electrodes is observed as a result [89].

As mentioned earlier, the brittleness of piezoelectric ceramics should be studied further for these PEHs [90]. Certain imperfections in piezoelectric materials generated during crystal growth, such as crystal inhomogeneity, porosities and voids, dislocations, and crystal size, will act as high-intensity factors affecting properties and lead to cracking failure ultimately. In addition, piezoelectric materials are typically attached to the metal host in the PEH. This can be a source of imperfections in this interfacial bond that can induce fatigue phenomena depending on the defects. It is essential to consider these risks when a PEH is planned to be used.

The alternating electric field and polarization caused after each switching cycle lead to gradual degradation of these materials [89]. During the fabrication, the random orientation of grains and crystal lattice make the material need to be poled, which causes the generation of domains in the material [89]. The movement of crystal lattice and domains is induced by extremely high electric fields similar to the initial polarization electric field [89]. Fatigue failure will happen 10<sup>3</sup> cycles sooner in the piezoelectric material subject to a high electric field of more than 200 kV/cm and stress more than 30 MPa [85, 89]. This is not the case for the PEH in this study.

Several studies have focused on the fatigue of the piezoelectric materials and how it affects the lifetime and efficiency of the piezoelectric materials. In these studies, different types of stress are applied to the piezoelectric materials, and the number of cycles before failure is studied. In this study, some of the published data on PZT-5H fatigue is used to estimate the lifetime of the PEH. The experimental fatigue studies for the PZT material show that the lifespan of PZT is around 10<sup>10</sup> cycles [95-96]. Based on the experimental study reported in Ref [80], the relation of the cycle life of the PZT and the strain is as Eq.6 [84]:

$$c = 2e^{13}(\%\epsilon)^3 - e^{13}(\%\epsilon)^2 + 2e^{12}(\%\epsilon) - 9e^{10}$$
(6)

where  $\varepsilon$ , is the strain and c, is the cycle life. Based on this equation, the strain increases over time due to the formation of the cracks in the PZT material.

As discussed earlier, the strain limit for the PZT-5H is 0.175%. Based on Eq.6 the PZT-5H material reaches its strain limit around  $10^{10}$  cycles. A tire with a 30 in diameter and speed of 60mph will move with the speed of 560 rpm. If we put the limit life of  $10^{10}$  cycles on the PEH lifespan, the PEH can work inside the tire for 178571 minutes without any fatigue issue. If we assume 3 hours of driving each day. This PEH can work for 992 days (2.7 years).

## 3.7. Reliability analysis

To consider the PEH design for the autonomous vehicle, it is crucial that the design be reliable for the tire's lifespan. The PEH will provide the power to the tire sensors, and it should be able to do so in the lifespan of the tire. To consider the reliability of the PEH, besides the fatigue analysis, it is important to consider the degradation effect of the piezoelectric material in cyclic stress and temperature.

It is known that if the 30 MPa cyclic load is applied to the PZT-5H the d33 will degrease around 5%, and it means 5% decrease in the ability of the material to produce charge [92]. The temperature affects the lifespan of these PEHs, and temperature cycles caused degradation in the piezoelectric material. Gall and Thielicke [91] had a study that showed that thin-film PZT thin film exhibited a decrease in film capabilities at higher temperatures for a cyclic tensile test. The effects of temperature on fatigue for a PEH were demonstrated by Henslee et al. [93] and Pandey and Arockiarajan [94]. These researchers demonstrated that if the temperature that the cyclic stress and strain are applied to the piezoelectric material increase from 20 C to 50C, the output power of the PEH is decreased around 5% at 1.6 million cycles.

It is very important that at the PEH design stage, based on the power demand in the autonomous vehicle tire sensors, it is recommended to consider this amount (around 10%) in the output power decrease due to the temperature change and degradation due to the cyclic loading in the PEH lifespan.

# 3.8. Energy harvesting efficiency

Another important parameter for the energy harvesting system is the energy harvesting efficiency, which depends on the amount of accessible energy. Generally, the tire deflection has a significant influence, about 90%, on the rolling resistance of the tire, which is a representative of the total amount of wasted energy [63]. The total rolling resistance force can be obtained from Eq.7 [97].

$$R = f_r N \tag{7}$$

where, R is the rolling resistance force, N is the normal force (approximately onefourth of the vehicle's weight for 4-wheel vehicles), and  $f_r$  is the rolling resistance coefficient that is related to the tire internal pressure and is well defined in Ref. [97]. Tire vertical forces have approximately 73% effect on the rolling resistance [98]; thus, the final tire deflection energy can be assumed as 65% of the rolling resistance that is the waste of energy of the tire and is obtained by Eq. 8.

$$E_d = \frac{65}{100} RVt_r \tag{8}$$

where, V is the vehicle speed, and  $t_r$  is the time needed for one full rotation of the tire. The energy harvesting efficiency of the piezoelectric system is the valuable output energy obtained divided by the total input energy to the system as defined in Eq. 9.

$$\eta = \frac{E_{out}}{E_{in}} = \frac{E_{out}}{E_d}$$
(9)

The input energy of the system,  $E_{in}$ , is the sum of the tire deflection energy,  $E_d$ , and the output energy of the piezoelectric system,  $E_{out}$ .

# 3.9. Effect of temperatures on the PEH performance

Several variables such as vehicle speed, load, type of pavement, and ambient temperature can affect the tire temperature; therefore, the influence of temperature rise on the PEH should be considered. The PEH is connected to the inner surface of the tire; thus, its temperature is estimated by the air temperature inside the tire. Yokota et al. [99] tested the inflated air temperature of a tire traveling at 80 km/h at different ambient temperatures. They reported that the tire inflated air temperature rises from  $33^{\circ}$ C to  $50^{\circ}$ C when the ambient temperature rises from  $15^{\circ}$ C to  $35^{\circ}$ C. In addition, the d33, d31, and  $\varepsilon$ 33 coefficients of soft PZTs change with the temperature increase [62]. To consider the effect of temperature, the model should take into account the dependency of PZT-5H properties on temperature change. For this aim, a curve is fitted based on the d33, d31, and  $\varepsilon$ 33 data presented in Ref. [62] in the temperature range of 0 to 50, and equations 10-12 are used in the model.

$$\Delta d_{33} = -0.014 \mathrm{T}^2 + 1.9 \mathrm{T} \tag{10}$$

$$\Delta d_{31} = 0.002 \mathrm{T}^2 - 0.75 \mathrm{T} \tag{11}$$

$$\Delta \varepsilon_{33} = 0.043 \mathrm{T}^2 + 7.76 \mathrm{T} \tag{12}$$

In these equations,  $\Delta d_{33}$ ,  $\Delta d_{31}$ , and  $\Delta \epsilon_{33}$  are the change in the  $d_{33}$ ,  $d_{31}$ , and  $\epsilon_{33}$  with the temperature change, respectively. T is desired temperature. Since the stress and deflection of the steel host affect the deflection of the PZT-5H layer, the effect of temperature on the steel host stress analysis should also be considered. In 2012, Wang et al. [100] proposed Eq. 13, which is used in the model to describe the effect of temperature on the elastic modulus of the steel host

$$E_{t} = E_{t_{0}} \left( 1.02 - 0.035 e^{\frac{T}{280}} \right)$$
<sup>(13)</sup>

In this equation,  $E_t$  is the elastic modulus at the desired temperature, and  $E_{t0}$  is the elastic modulus at room temperature.

# 3.10. Modeling process

The analytical process and coupling of the equations are shown in Figure 2. The tire deformation module, geometry model, and the energy demand are calculated at the same time, and then by choosing the proper host and piezoelectric material, the PEH model is developed, and the output power of the PEH is calculated. The steps of the modeling and equations are defined in this section.


Figure 2. Analytical modeling process and coupling of the equations

#### 3.11. Copyright notice

A significant part of this chapter was adapted with permission from the following publications:

- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., & Farhad, S. (2021). Experimental study of a piezoelectric strain-based energy harvester for intelligent tires of autonomous vehicles.
   ASME 2021 International Mechanical Engineering Congress IMECE2021
- 2- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., Batur, C., & Farhad, S. (2019). Design, modeling, and analysis of a high performance piezoelectric energy harvester for intelligent tires. International Journal of Energy Research, 43(10), 5199-5212.
- 3- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Nazari, A., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2019). A rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for intelligent tire monitoring applications. Journal of Energy Resources Technology, 141(6).
- 4- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., & Farhad, S. (2019). A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors. In 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI) (pp. 1-7). IEEE.
- 5- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., H., Nazari, A., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2018, June). Optimization of a rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for tire monitoring applications. In Energy Sustainability (Vol. 51418, p. V001T02A004). American Society of Mechanical Engineers.

#### CHAPTER IV

# DESIGN AND MODELING DIFFERENT SHAPES OF THE PIEZOELECTRIC ENERGY HARVESTER AND EXPERIMENTAL SETUP

# 4.1. Outline

In this chapter, different designs of the PEH is presented. Two different designs inspired by the Cymbal energy harvester are studied. Cymbal energy harvester is proven to be useful in energy harvesting with the use of piezoelectric materials [101, 102].

Here for the first time, the modified shape of the Cymbal energy harvester is used for tire application. For this purpose, the shapes for these energy harvesters are modified so that it can be embedded on the inner layer of the tire. In addition, for each proposed design, the detailed shape and structure are discussed, and finally, the modeling equations are presented for each design.

#### 4.2. PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester

Mechanical stability should be considered for designing PEH for the tire application. The mechanical stability of the PEH structure in the tire, which undergoes high cyclic stresses in such a small dimension, favors the Cymbal structure. Due to the high curvature of the tire at the contact patch, it is necessary for the part of the energy harvester connected to the tire to be smaller than the contact patch dimensions [38]. The stability and durability of Cymbal transducer are proven under high cyclic stress environments such as roadway pavements [103, 104]. The original Cymbal shape is shown in Figure 3. The external force is applied on the top end cap, and the PEH is attached to the base from the bottom end cap.



Figure 3. Original Cymbal PEH shape [105]

As it is obvious for tire application, there is no possibility of using the whole Cymbal design. Cause the external force and deflection are coming from the contact patch, which is where the PEH is connected to the inner surface of the tire as a fixed part. Therefore, here the PEH geometry is inspired by Cymbal shape, and some modifications are applied for embedding a design similar to the Cymbal shape on the inner surface of the tire. Here two different designs are studied. In tire application, only the bottom part of the energy harvester, the metal layer, is connected to the tire's inner surface. The steel cap length, cavity length, and thickness of the steel host are the indicator parameters for the Cymbal PEH design. Mo et al. [106] determined that the smaller ratio of the steel cap length to the cavity length and the smaller thickness of the steel host lead to a higher energy-generating performance of a Cymbal energy harvester under high cyclic loads. They reported that the steel cap length to the cavity length to the cavity length ratio of 0.6 and the steel thickness of 2 mm is the reliable design parameters for which the stress present in the endcaps are within the steel and piezoelectric material endurance limits [106]. Considering the studies done by Mo et al. [106] relations of the Cymbal geometry, the structure and dimensions for two new PEH are designed.

Different materials are chosen for the metal base and the piezoelectric material for two designs based on the Cymbal energy harvester. Steel and aluminum are chosen as the metal base for the first and second designs based on the Cymbal energy harvester, respectively. As discussed in the piezoelectric material selection section, the PZT-5H and PZT both can tolerate the tire inner surface. The PZT and PZT-5H are selected as the piezoelectric materials for the first and second designs based on the Cymbal energy harvester, respectively.

In addition, the yield tensile stress strength limit of the streel caps (250 MPa), the PZT-5H (35 MPa), and PZT (81 MPa) are the constraints of the design. Referring to the adhesive selection calculations, the stress on the contact patch area is within 0.174 MPa - 0.176 MPa, which is much lower than the yield stress limit of the selected materials.

The external load resistance is modeled in COMSOL Multiphysics software to indicate the electrical power output in both designs. The output energy taken from the

harvester can be determined by considering the stress distribution of the metal substrate, the electrical circuit of the load resistance, and the constitutive equation of piezoelectric material. The circuit model is out of the scope of this study, and readers may refer to Ref. [107] to find more information on the circuit model.

# 4.2.1. First design based on the Cymbal energy harvester

The first design of the PEH, as shown in Figure 2, is embedded on the inner surface of the tire for harvesting energy from tire bending. As it is obvious from Figure 4 the new geometry of PEH is inspired by the original shape of the Cymbal harvesters shape [6].



Figure 4. The first PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape embedded on the inner layer of the tire

The first design based on the Cymbal energy harvester contains a flexible metal substrate and piezoelectric material layer, shown in Figure 5. Two supporting legs are

designed to make it possible for the PEH to be used in the tire. The top and bottom metal layers are connected to the piezoelectric material layer at the end caps. At the same time, there is a gap separating each metal layer from the piezoelectric material layer, as shown in Figure 4. Using such gaps in the design lets the end caps convert a part of the radial displacements into longitudinal displacement in the PEH and amplify the resulting displacement. Thus, the piezoelectric material can benefit from both radial and longitudinal displacements. This will make both d<sub>33</sub> (piezoelectric charge constant parallel to the poling direction), and d<sub>31</sub> (piezoelectric charge constant perpendicular to the poling direction) coefficients contribute to the performance of the energy harvester [108]. Electrode caps on top and bottom of the piezoelectric material are connected to a load resistance to measure the electrical power output, modeled as an electric circuit.

The dimensions of the first design are given in Figure 5 as calculated in the adhesive section from Eq. 5; the contact patch length is around 165-178 mm. The total length of the PEH for the first design is just 11 mm that is much smaller than the contact patch length; thus, as mentioned in Ref. [38], it is acceptable.

Table 1 lists the input parameters for the PEH modeling for the first design based on the Cymbal shape. The depth of the energy harvester is set as 5 mm. The material properties are chosen from the material library of COMSOL Multiphysics software.

In the COMSOL Multiphysics model of the PEH the relative humidity is considered constant at 35%. The relative humidity was measured in the experimental study, and it was always around 35% to 50%. The effect of relative humidity on the performance of the PEH is not considered in this study and can be a possibility for future work.

Table 1. The material and model input parameters for the first design of the PEH based on Cymbal energy harvester

Item	Structural Steel	Soft ceramic Lead Zirconate Titanate (PZT- 5H)
Young's modulus (GPa)	205	64
Density (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	7850	7500
Piezoelectric coefficient, d <sub>33</sub> (pC/N)	_	585
Piezoelectric coefficient, d <sub>31</sub> (pC/N)	_	-265
External load resistance (kΩ)	_	1
Dimensions	Refer to Figure 5	Refer to Figure 5
Depth	5mm	5mm
Temperature	23°C	23°C



Figure 5. First PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape

# 4.2.2. Second design based on the Cymbal energy harvester

As shown in Figure 6, the Second design based on the Cymbal energy harvester is embedded on the inner layer of the tire, and while the tire reaches the contact patch, the tire strain makes the energy harvester deflect. Because of the piezoelectric material nature, the energy harvester deflection is turned to electrical energy.



Figure 6. The second PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape embedded on the inner layer of the tire

The second design of the energy harvester also consists of a flexible metal substrate and piezoelectric material layer, as shown in Figure 6. Aluminum is chosen for the metal substrate due to its lightweight. To maintain the tire balance, the energy harvester cannot be massive or too large in size. Ceramic Lead Zirconate Titanate (PZT) is chosen for the piezoelectric material. The material properties used in the model are taken from the material library of COMSOL Multiphysics software and are presented in Table 2. The dimensions of the piezoelectric energy harvester are given in Figure 7. The depth of the energy harvester is set as 5 mm.



Figure 7. Second PEH design based on Cymbal PEH shape

Same as the first design, to make the second design of the energy harvester based on the Cymbal shape feasible for embedding on the inner layer of the tire, two support legs are designed, and just the bottommost of the metal layer and legs are attached to the inner tire layer. The top metal layer is attached to the piezoelectric material layer. The middle part of the bottom metal layer is separated from the piezoelectric material layer using a gap, and the end parts are attached to the piezoelectric material layer using a gap, Because of the presence of the gap, the radial displacements are converted to the longitudinal displacement at the locations where the bottom layer of the metal is connected to the piezoelectric material. As a result, both piezoelectric charge constant parallel ( $d_{33}$ ) and perpendicular ( $d_{31}$ ) to the poling direction have a role in energy harvesting [108].

Material	Aluminum	Ceramic Lead Zirconate
	substrate	Titanate (PZT)
Young's modulus (GPa)	69	66
Density (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	2700	7800
Piezoelectric coefficient, d <sub>33</sub> (pC/N)	N/A	311
Piezoelectric coefficient, d <sub>31</sub> (pC/N)	N/A	-166
External load resistance (kΩ)	N/A	100
Dimensions	Refer to Figure 7	Refer to Figure 7
Depth	5mm	5mm
Temperature	23°C	23°C

Table 2. The material and model input parameters for the second design of the PEH based on Cymbal energy harvester

# 4.2.3. Cymbal energy harvester modeling

In this Model, the modeling geometry is a modified shape of the Cymbal piezoelectric energy harvester discussed in previous sections, made of the flexible metal base and the piezoelectric material layer. The output energy of the PEH is determined from

the stress distribution of the metal host and solving the constitutive equations of the piezoelectric material stated in Eqs. 14 and 15.

$$S_{j} = S_{ji}^{E} \sigma_{i} + d_{jm} E_{m}$$
<sup>(14)</sup>

$$D_m = d_{mj}\sigma_j + \varepsilon_{km}^T E_k \tag{15}$$

In these equations, S, T, E and D, are the strain, stress, electric field and electric charge displacement tensors, respectively. In addition,  $s^E$  is the compliance tensor measured at the constant electric field, d is the piezoelectric strain constant tensor,  $\varepsilon^T$  is the dielectric permittivity coefficient tensor measured at constant stress. Furthermore, i, j = 1, . . . , 6 and k, m = 1, 2 ,3 represent different directions in material coordinate system. Since the external electric field is zero under the tire deflection, Eqs. 16 and 17 are simplified to [104]:

$$P = \sum_{i=1}^{6} d_{3i} \sigma_i \tag{16}$$

where, P is the polarization of the piezoelectric material that generates an internal electric field (E<sub>in</sub>):

$$E_{in} = \frac{P}{\varepsilon_{33}^{T}} = \sum_{i=1}^{6} g_{3i} \sigma_{i}$$
(17)

where,  $g_{3i}$  is the piezoelectric voltage constant and  $\varepsilon_{33}$  is the relative permittivity. The relation between the piezoelectric voltage constant (g) and piezoelectric strain constant (d) is:

$$g_{3i} = \frac{d_{3i}}{\varepsilon_{33}^{T}}$$
(18)

Finally, the voltage generated by polarization changing is:

$$V = \int E_{in} dh_P \tag{19}$$

where, hp is the piezoelectric material layer thickness. The output electric energy (U) of the PEH can be calculated from Eq. 20 [104].

$$U = \frac{1}{2} P E_{in} A_p h_p \tag{20}$$

where, Ap is the piezoelectric material layer surface area.

## 4.3. Experimental setup

The material properties chosen for the experimental analysis are presented in Table 3. The Waterjet cutting method is used to cut the top and bottom layers of the PEH from the low carbon steel bar. The size of the PEH is compared with a quarter coin in Figure 8 to show how small the proposed PEH is, and it will not affect the tire dynamics. The surface

area of the PEH, which is attached to the inner layer of the tire, is about 0.2% of the whole tire inner surface.

The proposed design for the experimental analysis is shown in Fig 9. This design had a piezoelectric material thickness of 0.3mm, and this thickness was not commercially available and custom building of this thickness was expensive. Thus, the commercially available piezoelectric material sheet with a thickness of 0.5mm is chosen in this study. By choosing the 0.5mm as the PZT-5H thickness, the whole PEH is still in the 5mm limit for the PEH height.

Parameter	Low carbon Steel	PZT- 5H
Young's modulus (GPa)	210	64
Density (g cm-3)	7.85	7.500
d33 (pC/N)	_	585
d31 (pC/N)	_	-265
ε33	_	3400
Dimensions	Presented in Figure 2	9mm×0.5mm×5mm

Table 3. Material properties of the built PEH components.



Figure 8. Top and bottom layers of the PEH manufactured from low carbon steel by the use of the waterjet cutting method.



Figure 9. Design and dimensions of the PEH.

The aim is to experimentally measure the output voltage/power of the PEH, while it is attached to the inner layer of the tire. Most of the experimental setups in the literature lack realism. Usually, for this type of measurement resistance control box and the digital multimeter is used. However, this method needs a wired connection drilling into the rim or tire that is so complicated and may damage the tire or rim. Another option is to simulate the tire deflection on a laboratory scale for the tire section. This setup tends to mimic all conditions in an actual application; however, there is some complexity arising from deflections inside the tire, which affects the accuracy of measurement.

Furthermore, the effects of the forces resulting from tire rotation in a cymbal PEH are not discussed. Therefore, a test setup close to the real world should be prepared for testing PEH for tire application. Testing with the use of the mobile tire testing rig on the real pavement condition is the preferred and most realistic method, but this method needs infrastructure, and it is expensive. In this paper, the Hunter Engineering Road Force Elite machine [109], typically used to test tire performance, vibration, uniformity, and balance, is used to simulate the road conditions in the stationary testing setup. The use of the Road Force Elite machine for the experimental analysis of the PEH has several advantages. One advantage of this machine is its ability to simulate the tire-road conditions in a stationary situation. This method of testing is inexpensive and available in the laboratory scale. Finally, using this machine, the effect of PEH on the tire dynamic and balance can also be studied.

In order to solve the problem of wiring for conducting the measurement, the wireless measurement system based on Arduino hardware measuring system is used. The Arduino MKR1000 has a built-in Wi-Fi shield and two analog inputs for the voltage and current sensors. The experimental setup is shown in Figure 10. After dismounting the tire from the rim, the PEH and measurement system are attached to the inner layer of the tire using an ordinary commercial glue; and the data is transferred to the developed MATLAB code through the wireless connection. The PEH is electrically attached to the two analog inputs of the Arduino hardware measuring system. Then, the tire is remounted onto the rim and placed onto the Road Force Elite machine (Figure 11) [109]. The tire pressure is measured for each test using the Road Force Elite machine to control the tire situation.



Figure 10. The experimental setup. The PEH and the measurement system are mounted on the inner layer of the tire.



Figure 11. The experimental setup. The tire setup on the Road Force Elite machine [109].

#### 4.4. Copyright notice

A significant part of this chapter was adapted with permission from following publications:

- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R. & Farhad, S. (2021). Experimental study of a piezoelectric strain-based energy harvester for intelligent tires of autonomous vehicles.
   ASME 2021 International Mechanical Engineering Congress IMECE2021
- 2- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., Batur, C., & Farhad, S. (2019). Design, modeling, and analysis of a high-performance piezoelectric energy harvester for intelligent tires. International Journal of Energy Research, 43(10), 5199-5212.
- 3- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Nazari, A., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2019). A rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for intelligent tire monitoring applications. Journal of Energy Resources Technology, 141(6).
- 4- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., & Farhad, S. (2019). A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors. In 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI) (pp. 1-7). IEEE.
- 5- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., H., Nazari, A., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2018, June). Optimization of a rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for tire monitoring applications. In Energy Sustainability (Vol. 51418, p. V001T02A004). American Society of Mechanical Engineers.

#### CHAPTER V

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1. Outline

In this work, two new shapes of the PEH were designed and modeled using COMSOL Multiphysics software. The purpose of the PEHs is to provide a sufficient amount of power to the sensors embedded on the inner surface of the tire in order to monitor the tire-road condition. In this chapter, first, the model validation is presented. During the validation, the developed COMSOL Multiphysics model is compared to the published research. After being confident that the developed model is validated, each design's output power, energy, and voltage are studied. Finally, the temperature effect on the performance of the PEH for tire application is discussed.

# 5.2. Model validation

One of the standard techniques for validating a finite element study is to compare it with an experimental study. In this study, the developed PEHs inspired by Cymbal geometry are all new and have never been used for tire strain energy harvesting. Thus, there is not any experimental study available for validation. Therefore, for the validation purpose of the PEH models based on the Cymbal energy harvester, an experimental study that applies cyclic force to the original shape of these PEH is chosen. The geometry of the chosen researches is developed, and the boundary conditions, same as the experimental studies, are applied. Then the results of the developed models are compared to the experimental results.

# 5.2.1. Model validation for the PEH based on Cymbal energy harvester

Daniels et al. [105] studied the effect of external load resistance and load frequency on the output voltage of a Cymbal PEH experimentally. The shape and dimensions of Cymbal PEH studied by Daniels et al. [105] is shown in Figure 12. They designed the Cymbal PEH to be placed in the heel of shoes and harvest the wasted energy of the human while walking. Their PEH, consisting of 0.3 mm Brass host and 1 mm PZT disk, is reproduced in our model. Their boundary conditions are also reproduced, and a 50 N constant excitation force at the frequency of 2 Hz is applied to the top brass cap of the PEH, while the bottom cap is kept fixed. As demonstrated in Figure 13, a good agreement between the output voltage obtained by Daniels et al. [105] and our model is observed. The comparison of our model with experimental data shows a maximum error of about 2%.



Figure 12. Cymbal energy harvester geometry used for validation with experimental results reported by Daniels et al. [105].



Figure 13. Comparison of the developed model with Daniels et al. [105] experimental results for 50N constant excitation force at 2 Hz.

# 5.3. Mesh independency analysis

The mesh independency analysis is necessary for the finite element analysis. In this study, the mesh independency analysis is done for one of the designs to ensure the total mesh element size, shape, and time step do not affect the results of the developed model.

The first PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester is modeled as it is connected to the inner layer of the tire. The finite element discretized model geometry is shown in Figure 14. The total mesh element size of 301, 1509, 5552, and 14096 are chosen, and the output power of the PEH is compared. It is noticed that the total mesh element size higher than 1509 does not have much impact on PEH output power, and by using the total mesh element size of 14096 the computational time and cost will be increased significantly. The PEH output power is compared with the two different mesh shapes while the total mesh element size is set as 5552 elements. The results have less than 0.02% difference by using triangular and quadrilateral mesh shapes.



Figure 14. The finite element discretized model geometry of the first PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester

# 5.4. Tire deflection

The displacement of the 235/60R18 tire traveling at a speed of 40 km/h for one complete rotation (360°) is calculated from Eqs. 2-4 and presented in Figure 15. As it is obvious, the inner surface of the tire becomes under tension. In addition, just after and before the contact, the inner surface of the tire becomes under compression. The tension of the tire inner surface is higher than the compression before and after the contact patch. The

maximum strain of the inner surface of tire is about 3150  $\mu\epsilon$  (microstrain). Although the effect of velocity on the tire strain is assumed to be negligible, it should be considered that by increasing the vehicle speed, the time duration that the PEH passes through the contact patch decreases. Thus, the voltage is generated in a smaller time period, and the time between two consecutive maximum voltages is decreased.

As discussed in previous chapters, almost 25% of the tire inner surface strain is transferred through the Cyanoacrylate adhesive layer [66], therefore in this study, only 25% of the tire strain is calculated and shown in Figure 8 is applied to the designed PEHs.



Figure 15. Strain of inner surface of a 235/60R18 tire traveling at 40 km/h for one complete rotation.

- 5.5. PEH output power, voltage and energy
- 5.5.1. First PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester output power, voltage, and energy

The output electric power and voltage in one full rotation of tire are shown in Figures 16 and 17, respectively. As seen, the maximum electric power and voltage are 2.86 mW and 3.5 V, respectively. The total accumulated energy harvested in one full rotation of tire is around 24  $\mu$ J/rev. In the modeling of the PEH the relative humidity is considered constant at 35%.

It should be noted that the generated output voltage signal is AC. A rectification device or an AC-DC converter will be required when the sensor operates with DC input power. In addition, vehicles travel at different speeds; thus, the output AC signal at different speeds is not uniform. Using the AC-DC convertor is recommended to have a consistent input power to the sensors. To power up the tire sensors in situations where energy harvesting is not applicable, such as situations where the vehicle is not moving, it is possible to save the produced energy using a charging capacitor.



Figure 16. The first designed PEH output electric power for one full rotation of tire.



Figure 17. The first designed PEH output electric voltage for one full rotation of tire.

5.5.2. Second PEH design based on the Cymbal energy harvester output power, voltage, and energy

In Figures 18 and 19 the output electric voltage and power in one full rotation of tire are plotted. The maximum amount of electric power and voltage are 5.2 mW and 7 V, respectively. The total energy harvested in one full rotation of tire is  $65 \text{ }\mu\text{J/rev}$ .



Figure 18. The second designed PEH output electric power for one full rotation of tire.



Figure 19. The second designed PEH output electric voltage for one full rotation of tire.

As shown before, the first and second designs of the PEH harvest 2.86 mW and 5.2 mW, respectively. In intelligent tire application, the goal is to provide sufficient energy for tire embedded sensors. It is known that in a TPMS with 10-60 sample/min transmission speed, an energy need of about 120  $\mu$ W – 1 mW is required [47]. The harvested energy achieved in this study using the first design is sufficient for 1 to 2 sensors of this type. Also, the harvested energy using a second design is sufficient for 1 to 5 sensors of this type.

From Eq.1, 8.7  $\mu$ J/rev is required for one wireless tire sensor, and the amount that the energy harvester proposed in this study can provide is sufficient for two sensors of this kind.

In addition, it is reported that an average TPMS needs 10  $\mu$ J/rev for wireless communication with the vehicle control system [110]. The first and second designs of the PEH provide 24  $\mu$ J/rev and 65  $\mu$ J/rev as output energy. Therefore, the proposed first and second PEH design is sufficient for 2 and 5 sensors of this type.

Furthermore, from Eq.1, it is calculated that the required energy for an accelerometer embedded inside the tire to measure and wirelessly communicate with the vehicle control center is about 8.7  $\mu$ J in each tire rotation. Also, the proposed piezoelectric energy harvester's first and second design is capable of powering up about 2 and 9 sensors of this type.

In addition, it is reported that for a vehicle traveling at a speed range of 60-120 km/h with a TPMS with high transmission speed (60 sample/min), the required energy is about 30-60  $\mu$ J/rev [47]. Only The second PEH design can supply energy for this type of high transmission speed TPMS at 120 km/h. As it is reported in Ref. [45], by increasing the load resistance, the output power of the strain-based energy harvester is increased. Consequently, if a higher power output is needed, it is possible to increase the load resistance.

Although the flexible metal base material, piezoelectric material, and dimensions of the designs were different, both provide sufficient power output to provide power to the sensors embedded on the inner layer of the tire.

The designed PEH output electric power is higher than most of the reviewed PEHs. The highest power output in the literature (6.5 mW) is achieved using a high load resistance (42 k $\Omega$ ) and a large PEH structure of brass with 40 mm diameter and 0.3 PZT as the piezoelectric material [25]. As discussed before, to maintain the tire balance, the PEHs embedded on the inner layer of the tire should be small [38]. In addition, the 42 k $\Omega$  is a considerable load resistance, and in reality, the TPMS may have a much lower equivalent load impedance. For the strain-based PEHs, the output power is decreased significantly by a decrease in the load resistance [45]. Thus, by using smaller load resistance, the 6.5 mW output power is not achievable. The rainbow PEH with 5.85 mW output electric power is introduced in Ref. [45], which needs the specific piezoelectric manufacturing process to have the curved piezoelectric structure; however, the advantage of the PEHs here is the absence of difficulty to manufacture just by using the piezoelectric material sheet and gluing it to the metal host.

# 5.6. Energy harvesting efficiency

The energy harvesting efficiency is calculated for all the PEH designs. For a tire with an inflation pressure of 34 psi and a vehicle weight of 2500 kg, the rolling resistance coefficient is 0.016 [97]. Using Eq. 1, the rolling resistance force would be 10 lbf. Hence, the tire wasted energy in each rotation of the tire would be 13.31 J/rev as calculated from Eq. 2. Based on Eq. 3 and the output energy of the PEHs, the energy harvesting efficiency of the designed PEHs can be calculated. The energy harvesting efficiency for the PEH first and second designs is 0.019% and 0.068%, respectively.

## 5.7. Stress Analysis

The displacement of the 235/60R18 tire traveling at a speed of 40 km/h for one complete rotation (360°) is calculated from Eqs. 2-4 and presented in Figure 20. As it is obvious, the inner surface of the tire becomes under tension. In addition, just after and

before the contact, the inner surface of the tire becomes under compression. It is obvious that the tension of the tire inner surface is higher than the compression before and after the contact patch. The maximum strain of the inner surface of the tire is about 3150  $\mu\epsilon$  (microstrain). The stress and deformation are applied to the PEH due to the tire passing the contact patch. Figure 20 shows the times that the maximum deflection happens when the PEH passes through the contact patch. Time 0 is the time that PEH reaches to the contact patch.



Figure 20. The effect of the PEH first design thickness on the output electric energy for one full rotation of tire

The Von-Misses stress is shown these three pick deflection paint is shown is Figures 21-23. The yield stress of the PZT-5H and the metal host (Non-alloy structural steels structural steel) is  $6.89 \times 10^8$  Pa [73] and  $275 \times 10^8$  Pa [74], respectively. From the figures 21-23 the maximum Von-Misses stress in the whole PEH is around  $9.5 \times 10^7$  Pa.

The yield stress of both steel and PZT-5h is much higher than the maximum Von-Misses stress in the PEH; therefore, the design is safe.



Figure 21. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=78 ms



Figure 22. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=86 ms



Figure 23. Von-Mises stress and deformation of the piezoelectric assembly based on the line applied strain and line fixed constraint, at t=103 ms

# 5.8. Parametric analysis

Different parameters such as vehicle speed, piezoelectric material thickness, PEH depth, and temperature may affect the harvested energy. Thus, a parametric study is done to study the effect of vehicle speed on the proposed PEHs. In addition, a parametric study is investigated on the first design of the PEH to find the effect of the dimensions on the PEH. Finally, a parametric study is investigated on the first design of the harvested energy

# 5.8.1. Effect of vehicle speed

In literature, researchers have found that longitudinal strain slightly increases about 5% by increasing tire rolling speed from 8 to 26 rpm; therefore, vehicle speed has little

influence on tire strain [50]. So, this study considers the effect of vehicle speed negligible. However, it should be noted that by an increase in vehicle speed, the time duration that the PEH passing through the contact patch area is reduced, and this leads to the generation of voltage in a smaller time span, thus a decrease in time difference between two consecutive maximum voltage is expected.

#### 5.8.2. Effect of PEH dimensions

Another parameter that affects the output power is the PEH dimensions. The dimensions of the first design of the PEH based on the Cymbal energy harvester is chosen as shown before, and the PZT-5H thickness is 0.3 mm. For the parametric study here, the PZT-5H thickness is increased from 0.3 mm to 0.8mm. The effect of the PZT-5H thickness on the PEH accumulated output electric energy for one full rotation of tire is shown in Figure 24. As it is obvious, by increasing the PZT-5H thickness, the PEH output electric energy is increased. Therefore, the optimum thickness can be chosen for the PEH regarding the number of sensors and the required energy. If the 0.8 mm is chosen for the piezoelectric material thickness, the first design of the PEH can provide energy for about 5 sensors.


Figure 24. The effect of the PEH first design thickness on the output electric energy for one full rotation of tire

The PEH depth is another parameter that can be changed on the PEH design to match the energy supply with the energy demand of the tire sensors. In the initial PEH first design, 5 mm is chosen for the depth. Figure 25 the effect of reducing the PEH depth, from 5mm to 2 mm, on the total energy harvested in one full rotation of tire. The total energy harvested decreases from 24  $\mu$ J/rev to 4  $\mu$ J/rev once the PEH depth decreases from 5 mm to 2mm. Then, if just one sensor with 10  $\mu$ J/rev energy is needed, the PEH depth can be set to 4 mm.

In addition, this analysis shows that by increasing the PEH depth, the total energy harvested in one full tire rotation is increased. Thus, as far as the tire manufacturer limitations allowed to maintain the tire balance, it is possible to increase the PEH depth. Alternatively, if another PEH is connected to the tire inner surface, 180° ahead of the first

PEH, the energy demand for up to four or five sensors can be supplied. The parametric study on the PEH output energy in each tire rotation shows that the increase in piezoelectric material thickness has more effect than the PEH depth.



Figure 25.The effect of the depth of PEH first design on the accumulated harvested energy for one full rotation of tire.

## 5.9. Effect of temperature on the PEH performance

Another important parameter on the PEH performance is the air temperature inside the tire. The air temperature inside the tire may vary in different ambient conditions. In addition, the tire tread rubber temperature increases during the tire rolling; therefore, the air temperature inside the tire also changes during tire rolling. As a result, the PEH will be exposed to temperature change during different ambient temperatures and during tire rolling. Here the effect of the air temperature inside the tire on the PEH first design based on the Cymbal energy harvester is studied.

It is proven that by an increase in the ambient temperature from  $15^{\circ}$ C to  $35^{\circ}$ C the inflated air temperature rises from  $33^{\circ}$ C to  $50^{\circ}$ C [68]. Eqs. 10-12 and Eq.13 are applied to the PZT-5H and steel material properties of the model, and a parametric study is conducted to determine the dependency of the accumulated harvested energy to this temperature. As shown in Figure 26, the total energy harvested is increased from 24.4 µJ/rev to 26.5 µJ/rev, once the tire air temperature increases from  $23^{\circ}$ C to  $50^{\circ}$ C.



Figure 26.The effect of the tire air temperature on the accumulated harvested energy from the first designed PEH for one full rotation of tire.

### 5.10. Experimental Analysis

The effect of velocity on the tire strain is reported to be negligible [63]; hence, here, there is not any concern about the tire traveling speed. The main impact of the tire traveling speed on the results is that the frequency of the voltage/power pulse generation varies with tire speed (the time takes for the PEH to reach and pass to the contact patch varies). In addition, by the increase in the tire speed, the one rotation of the tire happens faster and the PEH produces power in a shorter time.

Our proposed design in the modeling section had a piezoelectric material thickness of 0.3mm. This thickness was not commercially available and custom building of this thickness was expensive. Thus, the commercially available piezoelectric material sheet with a thickness of 0.5mm is chosen in this study. Then with this new thickness of the piezoelectric material, another COMSOL Multiphysiscs model is generated to compare the experimental results with the experimental analysis. The results of the COMSOL Multiphysiscs model showed that the maximum output voltage and electric power of the PEH is about 2.4V and 1.7 mW, respectively. The PEH output power, predicted from the COMSOL Multiphysiscs model, is presented in previous sections. The experimental output power of the first PEH at the tire normal load of 368 kg and the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi is shown at Figure 27.



Figure 27. The output electric power of the first PEH with the 0.5mm PZT-5H thickness, predicted from the COMSOL Multiphysiscs model for one full rotation of tire.

Before and after reaching the contact patch the tire undergoes compression and during the contact patch the tire undergoes tension. Just some parts of the PEH are connected to the tire inner layer, therefore the stress distribution in the PEH structure is a little bit different from the exact compression - tension-compression that happens for the tire, and the voltage output of the PEH undergoes the pick during the contact patch.



Figure 28. The experimental output power of the first PEH at the tire normal load of 368 kg and the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi.

In the last section, it was calculated that for measuring 1000 samples per each tire rotation and to transmit 35 bytes per axis in each tire rotation, the required energy for a typical tire sensor would be 8.7  $\mu$ J/rev. Here, the experimental output energy of the PEH is obtained about 28.8  $\mu$ J for one full rotation of the tire. Therefore, the proposed PEH can provide the energy required for three sensors of this type. Furthermore, the required energy for the commercial TPMS is reported to be 10  $\mu$ J/rev [63]; thus, the proposed PEH can harvest enough energy for two commercial TPMSs.

In the real-world application, only PEH is attached to the inner layer of the tire, and there may be no need to keep the measurement system inside the tire. Thus, to study the effect of the PEH on the tire balance and dynamic, the measurement system was detached and only PEH has remained on the inner surface of the tire. As discussed earlier, the PEH is only 0.2% of the tire inner surface area. The tire balance was investigated using the Road Force Elite machine and no unbalancing was observed. Therefore, it is expected that the proposed PEH will not affect the tire dynamics.

A study was done to evaluate the effect of the tire load on the output voltage of the PEH. The PEH output voltage was measured for the tire normal loads of 368 kg and 112 kg and the results are shown in Figure 29. The tire pressure was kept constant at 35 psi for both loads. It is evident that the PEH in both tire normal loads shows the same trend of voltage production. As seen in Figure 29, the increase in the load leads to an increase in the output voltage of the PEH. Since the Road Force Elite machine applies the load directly to the tire tread to simulate the tire-road contact, the increase of the load increases the tire strain. As a result, the applied strain to the PEH is increased and the output voltage is increased. As a remarkable result, notice that the load was increased about 3 times, while the output voltage was increased about 1.8 times.



Figure 29. The experimental output voltage of the PEH at the tire normal load of 368 kg and 112 kg and the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi.

A study was also done to evaluate the effect of the tire inflation pressure on the output voltage of the PEH. The PEH output voltage was measured for the tire inflation pressures of 35psi to 20 psi at the constant normal tire load of 368 kg, and the results are shown in Figure 30. As seen, the decrease in the tire inflation pressure leads to an increase in the output voltage due to the increase in the tire strain. As a remarkable result, notice that the inflation pressure was decreased about 40%, while the output voltage was increased only about 20%. The change in the output voltage of the PEH is the result of the tire strain change. The effect of the load and tire pressure on the tire strain was addressed in the literature before. Finally, this effect of the load and pressure change to the PEH output is related to each other.



Figure 30. The experimental output voltage of the PEH at the tire inflation pressure of 35 psi and 20 psi at the tire normal load of 368 kg

### 5.11. Broader impact of the PEH

The proposed strain-based piezoelectric energy harvester can have applications in various fields such as transportation and railway systems, structures, aerial applications and biomedicals. A comprehensive review on the state-of-the-art of piezoelectric energy harvesting can be found in the Ref [111]. The strain and load from moving the vehicles on the road can be used in the strain-based PEH to provide power for the traffic signal lights, monitor the structural health of roads, self-powering vehicle weighing system [111]. The proposed PEH can have application in the bridges. The deflection and strain of the bridge due to the vehicles passing the bridge can be used as a source of strain for the PEH. For example, The PEH can be used to provide power to some sensors to monitor the structural health of the bridge. The PEH can be applied on the speed bumps of the road and cover the energy to be used in the sensors in the road. The PEH can be used to convert the mechanical energy from human body movements into electrical energy to power up some wearable sensors. The PEH can also be used on biomedical applications such as knee joints to monitor the health of the replaced knee joint [111]. For each of these potential applications, the design of the PEH should be studied to optimize the PEH design based on the input strain and output needed energy.

### 5.12. Copyright notice

A significant part of this chapter was adapted with permission from the following publications:

- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R. & Farhad, S. (2021). Experimental study of a piezoelectric strain-based energy harvester for intelligent tires of autonomous vehicles.
  ASME 2021 International Mechanical Engineering Congress IMECE2021
- 2- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., Batur, C., & Farhad, S. (2019). Design, modeling, and analysis of a high-performance piezoelectric energy harvester for intelligent tires. International Journal of Energy Research, 43(10), 5199-5212.
- 3- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Nazari, A., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2019). A rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for intelligent tire monitoring applications. Journal of Energy Resources Technology, 141(6).
- 4- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., & Farhad, S. (2019). A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors. In 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI) (pp. 1-7). IEEE.
- 5- Aliniagerdroudbari, H., Esmaeeli, R., H., Nazari, A., Hashemi, S. R., Alhadri, M., Zakri, W., ... & Farhad, S. (2018, June). Optimization of a rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for tire monitoring applications. In Energy Sustainability (Vol. 51418, p. V001T02A004). American Society of Mechanical Engineers.

## CHAPTER VI

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

With the increased attention to autonomous vehicles nowadays, vehicle safety is of immense importance. One of the critical parameters in vehicle and passenger safety is tire safety. Intelligent tires use sensors embedded on the tire to monitor tire and tire-road conditions. Intelligent tires are an essential part of autonomous vehicles. Some tire condition parameters such as tire temperature and pressure and some tire-road parameters such as contact patch dimensions and friction are measured through intelligent tire sensors.

The sensors embedded in the intelligent tire need power to measure the parameters. Previously batteries were used to power up intelligent tire sensors, but batteries need maintenance, and they are not a sustainable energy source. Energy harvesting is a way to reuse part of the ambient waste energy. Energy harvesting is a sustainable source of energy and can provide energy for the intelligent tire sensors precisely at the place that the energy is needed. With the use of an energy harvesting system for the intelligent tire, the waste energy of the tire is converted to valuable energy.

Due to the nature of the piezoelectric material, they are helpful in energy harvesting. The piezoelectric material can convert the input force or deflection to the charge. Nowadays, the piezoelectric material is an integral part of energy harvesting systems. In tires, there are different sources of waste energy available such as vibration, excess temperature, and tire strain or deflection. And with the use of any of these waste energy sources, there are several ways developed for energy harvesting from tires, such as vibration, temperature, and strain energy harvesting.

Here in this study, two new designs of the strain-based piezoelectric energy harvesters are proposed and studied with the use of COMSOL Multiphysics software. The shape of the proposed PEHs is inspired by Cymbal energy harvester geometry. The Cymbal energy harvester is proven to be useful for piezoelectric energy harvesting. Here for the first time, these PEH shapes are used for strain-based energy harvesting for tire application.

The modeling of the PEH system consists of several studies. First, the tire deflection is calculated as the input parameter of the energy harvesting system. Then, the required energy of the tire sensors is calculated. The PEH needs an adhesive layer to be attached to the inner layer of the tire and after studying the contact patch stress and the stress applied to the PEH, Cyanoacrylate is chosen as the adhesive layer. Considering the strain and stress limit of the piezoelectric materials and the tire strain applied, the PEH, PZT and PZT-5H are chosen as the piezoelectric material for this study. The PEH will be undergoing cyclic loading in the tire application. Therefore, the fatigue failure of the piezoelectric material is also considered in the design stage.

The Multiphysics model is developed for the piezoelectric energy harvesting based on the Cymbal energy harvester. The models are validated with the published experimental studies. As part of the finite element study, the mesh independency analysis is done, and the best mesh size and the time step is chosen for the study. The output power of the first and second designs are 2.86 mW and 5.2 mW, respectively. The output voltage of first and second designs are 3.5 V and 7 V, respectively. The output energy of the first and second designs are 24.4  $\mu$ J/rev and 65  $\mu$ J/rev, respectively.

Finally, one of the developed PEHs is tested experimentally. For this purpose, the commercially available PZT-5H sheet was used as the piezoelectric material. The soft PZT-5H was used due to its high strain limit that can withstand the high tire cyclic strain. A wireless measurement system was developed for online measurement of the voltage and power output of the PEH. The PEH and the measurement system were attached to the inner layer of a passenger car tire and tested using the Road Force Elite machine that can simulate the tire-road contact. The PEH output voltage and power of 2.5 V and 1.9 mW were obtained in the experimental test that can supply power to four TPMS sensors. The total output electrical energy of the PEH was calculated at about 28.8  $\mu$ J per full rotation of tire that can provide the energy required for three sensors of this type. The size of the proposed PEH is only 0.2% of the tire inner surface area, and the tire balance test showed no unbalancing; thus, it is expected that the proposed PEH will not affect the tire dynamics. Overall, this study showed that the performance of the proposed PEH is acceptable to power 2 to 5 sensors of intelligent tires.

The PEH is designed to be used in autonomous vehicles tire to provide power to the tire sensors. Due to this application, the PEH is subjected to temperature change, tire inflation changes, vehicle speed change, and tire load changes. Therefore, in this study, some parametric analysis is done to investigate the effect of these changes on the PEH performance. The parametric study with the use of COMSOL Multiphysics model is done, and the effect of vehicle speed, PEH depth, piezoelectric material thickness, and the

temperature on the output on the PEH is investigated. The parametric experimental study is done to study the effect of tire inflation pressure and tire load on the output voltage of the PEH.

These newly proposed strain-based PEHs are proven to provide sufficient energy to power up intelligent tire sensors. There are different shapes and dimensions with different metal host materials and piezoelectric material, which a tire company can use in between them due to its availability to the material and the manufacturing process. These PEHs can be utilized to power up intelligent tire sensors. This device may have been used for the tire companies to predict the tire pressure, temperature, contact patch dimensions, friction, wear, and other important tire-road conditions to improve vehicle safety.

# APPENDIX A: LIST OF SYMBOLS

Symbol	Description
Ap	Piezoelectric material surface area
а	Distance between the two points on the tire curvature
D	Electric charge displacement tensor
d	Piezoelectric strain constant tensor
d33	Piezoelectric strain coefficient in 33 direction (pC/N)
d <sub>31</sub>	Piezoelectric strain coefficient in 31 direction (pC/N)
E	Electric field tensor
E <sub>in</sub>	Internal electric field
E <sub>rev</sub>	Amount of energy that wireless sensors need in each revolution of tire (J/rev)
E <sub>t0</sub>	Elastic modulus (MPa)
Et	Elastic modulus at elevated temperate (MPa)
g33	Piezoelectric voltage constant in 33 direction (10 <sup>-3</sup> voltmeter/N)
<b>g</b> <sub>31</sub>	Piezoelectric voltage constant in 31 direction (10 <sup>-3</sup> voltmeter/N)

Symbol	Description
hp	Piezoelectric material thickness (m)
L	Arc length (m)
$L_{\text{patch}}$	Contact patch length (m)
n <sub>samples</sub>	Number of samples
n <sub>axe</sub>	Number of axes
n <sub>bits</sub>	Number of transmitted bits
nJ	Nano Joule (10 <sup>-9</sup> J)
Р	Polarization
pJ	Pico Joule (10 <sup>-12</sup> J)
R	Radius of tire curvature (m)
r <sub>i-1</sub>	Point on the tire curvature
ſ <sub>i+1</sub>	Point on the tire curvature
S	Strain tensor
s <sup>E</sup>	Compliance tensor measured at constant electric field
Т	Temperature (°C)

Symbol	Description	
U	Output electric energy	
Zc	Radios of unloaded tire (m)	
Ζ	Tire inner surface radius (m)	
Greek Lette	ers	
σ	Stress tensor	
θ	Angle of arc (deg)	
δ	Tire stiffness	
8	Tire longitudinal strain	
$\epsilon^{T}$	Dielectric permittivity coefficient tensor measured at constant stress	
<b>E</b> 33	Dielectric permittivity coefficients	
Δ	Change in parameter	

# Abbreviations

TPMS	Tire pressure monitoring system
РЕН	piezoelectric energy harvester
PVDF	Piezoelectric polymer Polyvinylidene fluoride
PZT	Piezoelectric lead zirconate titanate
SBR	Styrene-Butadiene rubber

## APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

11/10/21, 11:22 AM

(/en-us/)

WILEY

Author of Work | Wlley

0

Home(/en-us) / Rights & Permissions(/en-us/permissions) / Author of Work

# Author of Work

As an author, you have certain legal rights to access and re-use your own work. For more information on publishing with Wiley, visit our Author Services site.

WILEY AUTHOR SERVICES →

To learn more about permissions requirements for self-archiving or depositing an article in an institutional repository, visit our Permissions information page.

ARTICLE REPOSITORIES →

# Reuse My Published Work

As a Wiley author, you retain certain reuse rights when you sign your Copyright Transfer Agreement (CTA). Refer back to this agreement if you are seeking permission to:

- Republish an extract of your own published work.
- Include your article in your thesis.
- Use copies for your internal teaching purposes.

If you still require a formal permission license, please make the request through RightsLink and select "author of this Wiley work" and your appropriate reuse rights to download your license.

# A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors Conference Proceedings: 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI) Author: Haniph Aliniagerdroudbari Publication Date: Feb. 2019

?

Help v

Home

1

Live Chat

Haniph Alinia 🗸

Copyright © 2019, IEEE

#### Thesis / Dissertation Reuse

The IEEE does not require individuals working on a thesis to obtain a formal reuse license, however, you may print out this statement to be used as a permission grant:

Requirements to be followed when using any portion (e.g., figure, graph, table, or textual material) of an IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:

 In the case of textual material (e.g., using short quotes or referring to the work within these papers) users must give full credit to the original source (author, paper, publication) followed by the IEEE copyright line © 2011 IEEE.
 In the case of illustrations or tabular material, we require that the copyright line © [Year of original publication] IEEE appear prominently with each reprinted figure and/or table.

3) If a substantial portion of the original paper is to be used, and if you are not the senior author, also obtain the senior author's approval.

Requirements to be followed when using an entire IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:

1) The following IEEE copyright/ credit notice should be placed prominently in the references: © [year of original publication] IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [author names, paper title, IEEE publication title, and month/year of publication]

Only the accepted version of an IEEE copyrighted paper can be used when posting the paper or your thesis online.

3) In placing the thesis on the author's university website, please display the following message in a prominent place on the website: In reference to IEEE copyrighted material which is used with permission in this thesis, the IEEE does not endorse any of [university/educational entity's name goes here]'s products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. If interested in reprinting/republishing IEEE copyrighted material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution, please go to http://www.ieee.org/publications\_standards/publications/rights/rights\_link.html to learn how to obtain a License from RightsLink.

If applicable, University Microfilms and/or ProQuest Library, or the Archives of Canada may supply single copies of the dissertation.

BACK

CLOSE WINDOW

© 2021 Copyright - All Rights Reserved | Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. | Privacy statement | Terms and Conditions Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Z. Yang, S. Zhou, J. Zu, and D. Inman, "High-performance piezoelectric energy harvesters and their applications," *Joule*, 2018.
- [2] R. Esmaeeli, H. Aliniagerdroudnari, *et al.*, "Design, modeling, and analysis of a high performance piezoelectric energy harvester for intelligent tires," *International Journal of Energy Research*, 2019.
- [3] Ç, "Power reclamation efficiency of a miniature energy harvesting device using external fluid flows," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1318-1330, 2014.
- [4] K. Kwon, S. J. Lee, L. Li, C. Han, and D. Kim, "Energy harvesting system using reverse electrodialysis with nanoporous polycarbonate track - etch membranes," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 530-537, 2014.
- [5] J. Turner *et al.*, "Renewable hydrogen production," *International journal of energy research*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 379-407, 2008.
- [6] A. Dogan, K. Uchino, and R. E. Newnham, "Composite piezoelectric transducer with truncated conical endcaps" Cymbal"," *IEEE Transactions on Ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics, and Frequency Control,* vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 597-605, 1997.
- [7] R. Matsuzaki and A. Todoroki, "Wireless monitoring of automobile tires for intelligent tires," *Sensors*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 8123-8138, 2008.
- [8] N. Persson, S. Ahlqvist, U. Forssell, and F. Gustafsson, "Low tire pressure warning system using sensor fusion," SAE Technical Paper0148-7191, 2001.
- [9] H. Kojima, H. Ohashi, K. Kubota, K. Fujiwara, K. Tomiita, and T. Umeno, "Development of tire pressure warning system using wheel speed sensor," *JSAE Rev*, vol. 19, p. 106, 1998.
- [10] T. Y. R. Co. (2005, December 15). Intelligent Tire Pressure Monitoring System Detects Sideslips Faster Another Advance in Vehicle Safety Technology.
- [11] A. Pohl, R. Steindl, and L. Reindl, "The" intelligent tire" utilizing passive SAW sensors measurement of tire friction," *IEEE transactions on instrumentation and measurement*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1041-1046, 1999.
- [12] A. H. Mohammed *et al.*, "Design and Comparison of Cooling Plates for a Commercial Pouch Lithium-ion Battery for Electrified Vehicles," 2018.
- [13] A. Nazari, R. Esmaeeli, S. R. Hashemi, H. Aliniagerdroudbari, and S. Farhad, "The Effect of Temperature on Lithium-Ion Battery Energy Efficiency with Graphite/LiFePO4

Electrodes at Different Nominal Capacities.," in ASME 2018 Power and Energy Conference, Florida,U.S., June 24-28, 2018.

- [14] J. Oudenhoven, R. Vullers, and R. Van Schaijk, "A review of the present situation and future developments of micro - batteries for wireless autonomous sensor systems," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1139-1150, 2012.
- [15] M. N. Silleto, S. J. Yoon, and K. Arakawa, "Piezoelectric cable macro fiber composites for use in energy harvesting," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 120-127, 2015.
- [16] N. Viet, Q. Wang, and A. Carpinteri, "Development of an ocean wave energy harvester with a built - in frequency conversion function," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 684-695, 2018.
- [17] S. J. Yoon, K. Arakawa, and M. Uchino, "Development of an energy harvesting damper using PVDF film," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1545-1553, 2015.
- [18] L. Tzounis *et al.*, "All-aromatic SWCNT-Polyetherimide nanocomposites for thermal energy harvesting applications," *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 156, pp. 158-165, 2018.
- [19] H. Li, K. Ota, and M. Dong, "Energy cooperation in battery-free wireless communications with radio frequency energy harvesting," ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems (TECS), vol. 17, no. 2, p. 44, 2018.
- [20] H. Okamoto, T. Suzuki, K. Mori, Z. Cao, T. Onuki, and H. Kuwano, "The advantages and potential of electret - based vibration - driven micro energy harvesters," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 33, no. 13, pp. 1180-1190, 2009.
- [21] M. Evans, L. Tang, K. Tao, and K. Aw, "Design and optimisation of an underfloor energy harvesting system," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 285, pp. 613-622, 2019.
- [22] R. Esmaeeli, H. Aliniagerdroudnari, *et al.*, "Optimization Of A Rainbow Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting System For Tire Monitoring Applications," in *ASME 2018 Power and Energy Conference*, Florida, U.S., 2018.
- [23] Y. Li, C. Xie, S. Quan, C. Zen, and W. Li, "Vibration energy harvesting in vehicles by gear segmentation and a virtual displacement filtering algorithm," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 1702-1713, 2018.
- [24] J. Siang, M. Lim, and M. Salman Leong, "Review of vibration based energy harvesting technology: Mechanism and architectural approach," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1866-1893, 2018.

- [25] C. Bowen and M. Arafa, "Energy harvesting technologies for tire pressure monitoring systems," *Advanced Energy Materials*, vol. 5, no. 7, 2015.
- [26] H. Zervos, "Energy harvesting for automotive applications," *Cambridge, MA: IDTechEx,* 2011.
- [27] H. Aliniagerdroudbari, R. Esmaeeli, S. R. Hashemi, M. Alhadri, W. Zakri, and S. Farhad, "A piezoelectric sandwich structure for harvesting energy from tire strain to power up intelligent tire sensors," in 2019 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI), 2019, pp. 1-7.
- [28] T. Oh, S. K. Islam, G. To, and M. Mahfouz, "Powering wearable sensors with a low-power CMOS piezoelectric energy harvesting circuit," in *Medical Measurements and Applications (MeMeA)*, 2017 IEEE International Symposium on, 2017, pp. 308-313: IEEE.
- [29] S. K. Dewangan and A. Dubey, "Design & implementation of energy harvesting system using piezoelectric sensors," in *Intelligent Computing and Control Systems (ICICCS)*, 2017 *International Conference on*, 2017, pp. 598-601: IEEE.
- [30] W. Jayarathne, W. Nimansala, and S. Adikary, "Development of a Vibration Energy Harvesting Device Using Piezoelectric Sensors," in 2018 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), 2018, pp. 197-202: IEEE.
- [31] T. Kumar, R. Kumar, and V. S. Chauhan, "Design and finite element analysis of varying width piezoelectric cantilever beam to harvest energy," in *Energy, Power and Environment: Towards Sustainable Growth (ICEPE), 2015 International Conference on, 2015, pp. 1-6:* IEEE.
- [32] Z. Wu and Q. Xu, "Design and Testing of a New Rotary Piezoelectric Energy Harvester for Wind Energy Harvesting," in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Mechatronics and Automation (ICMA), 2018, pp. 1722-1727: IEEE.
- [33] M. T. Todaro *et al.*, "Biocompatible, Flexible, and Compliant Energy Harvesters Based on Piezoelectric Thin Films," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 220-230, 2018.
- [34] Y.-K. Jin, S. Sarker, K.-S. Lee, H. W. Seo, and D. M. Kim, "Piezoelectric materials for high performance energy harvesting devices," in *Pan Pacific Microelectronics Symposium* (*Pan Pacific*), 2016, 2016, pp. 1-4: IEEE.
- [35] Y.-J. Wang, C.-D. Chen, and C.-K. Sung, "Design of a frequency-adjusting device for harvesting energy from a rotating wheel," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 159, no. 2, pp. 196-203, 2010.
- [36] E. R. Westby and E. Halvorsen, "Design and modeling of a patterned-electret-based energy harvester for tire pressure monitoring systems," *IEEE/ASME Transactions On Mechatronics*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 995-1005, 2012.

- [37] A. Frey, J. Seidel, and I. Kuehne, "System design of a piezoelectric MEMS energy harvesting module based on pulsed mechanical excitation," *Proceedings Power MEMS*, pp. 29-32, 2010.
- [38] S. J. Roundy, "Energy scavenging for wireless sensor nodes with a focus on vibration to electricity conversion," University of California, Berkeley Berkeley, CA, 2003.
- [39] M. Renaud *et al.*, "Improved mechanical reliability of MEMS piezoelectric vibration energy harvesters for automotive applications," in *Micro Electro Mechanical Systems* (*MEMS*), 2014 IEEE 27th International Conference on, 2014, pp. 568-571: IEEE.
- [40] G. Manla, N. White, and J. Tudor, "Harvesting energy from vehicle wheels," in Solid-State Sensors, Actuators and Microsystems Conference, 2009. TRANSDUCERS 2009. International, 2009, pp. 1389-1392: IEEE.
- [41] N. Makki and R. Pop-Iliev, "Battery-and wire-less tire pressure measurement systems (TPMS) sensor," *Microsystem technologies*, vol. 18, no. 7-8, pp. 1201-1212, 2012.
- [42] R. Elfrink *et al.*, "Shock induced energy harvesting with a MEMS harvester for automotive applications," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2011 IEEE International, 2011, pp. 29.5. 1-29.5. 4: IEEE.
- [43] A. E. Kubba and K. Jiang, "Efficiency enhancement of a cantilever-based vibration energy harvester," *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 188-211, 2013.
- [44] J. Lee and B. Choi, "Development of a piezoelectric energy harvesting system for implementing wireless sensors on the tires," *Energy conversion and management*, vol. 78, pp. 32-38, 2014.
- [45] R. Esmaeeli, H. Aliniagerdroudnari, *et al.*, "A Rainbow Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting System for Intelligent Tires Monitoring Applications," *Journal of Energy Resources Technology*, 2018.
- [46] N. Makki and R. Pop-Iliev, "Piezoelectric power generation in tires."
- [47] A. E. Kubba, M. Behroozi, O. A. Olatunbosun, C. Anthony, and K. Jiang, "Modeling of strain energy harvesting in pneumatic tires using piezoelectric transducer," *Tire Science And Technology*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 16-34, 2014.
- [48] F. Mancosu, G. Matrascia, and D. Villa, "Vehicle tire and system for generating electrical energy in the tire," ed: Google Patents, 2006.
- [49] Y. Hu, C. Xu, Y. Zhang, L. Lin, R. L. Snyder, and Z. L. Wang, "A nanogenerator for energy harvesting from a rotating tire and its application as a self powered pressure/speed sensor," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 23, no. 35, pp. 4068-4071, 2011.

- [50] D. Van den Ende, H. Van de Wiel, W. Groen, and S. Van der Zwaag, "Direct strain energy harvesting in automobile tires using piezoelectric PZT–polymer composites," *Smart materials and structures*, vol. 21, no. 1, p. 015011, 2011.
- [51] M. Sepe, *Dynamic mechanical analysis for plastics engineering*. William Andrew, 1998.
- [52] C. S. Woo and H. S. Park, "Useful lifetime prediction of rubber component," *Engineering Failure Analysis*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 1645-1651, 2011.
- [53] L. Pešek, L. Půst, and P. Šulc, "FEM modeling of thermo-mechanical interaction in prepressed rubber block," *Engineering Mechanics*, vol. 14, no. 1-2, pp. 3-11, 2007.
- [54] A. N. Gent, *Engineering with rubber: how to design rubber components*. Carl Hanser Verlag GmbH Co KG, 2012.
- [55] H. E. Boyer and T. L. Gall, "Metals handbook; desk edition," 1985.
- [56] H. S. Song, S. P. Jung, and T. W. Park, "Simulation of temperature rise within a rolling tire by using FE analysis," *Journal of Mechanical Science and Technology*, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 3419-3425, 2018.
- [57] F. Li *et al.*, "Thermo-mechanical coupling analysis of transient temperature and rolling resistance for solid rubber tire: Numerical simulation and experimental verification," *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 167, pp. 404-410, 2018/10/20/ 2018.
- [58] B. Yavari, W. Tworzydlo, and J. Bass, "A thermomechanical model to predict the temperature distribution of steady state rolling tires," *Tire Science and Technology*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 163-178, 1993.
- [59] H.-C. Park, S.-K. Youn, T.-S. Song, and N.-J. Kim, "Analysis of temperature distribution in a rolling tire due to strain energy dissipation," *Tire science and technology*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 214-228, 1997.
- [60] Y.-J. Lin and S.-J. Hwang, "Temperature prediction of rolling tires by computer simulation," *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 235-249, 2004.
- [61] J. Cho, H. Lee, W. Jeong, K. Jeong, and K. Kim, "Numerical estimation of rolling resistance and temperature distribution of 3-D periodic patterned tire," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 86-96, 2013.
- [62] R. Georges Sabat, B. K. Mukherjee, W. Ren, and G. Yang, "Temperature dependence of the complete material coefficients matrix of soft and hard doped piezoelectric lead zirconate titanate ceramics," Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 101, no. 6, p. 064111, 2007.
- [63] J. Lee, S. Kim, J. Oh, and B. Choi, "A self-powering system based on tire deformation during driving," *International Journal of Automotive Technology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 963-969, 2012.

- [64] M. Sergio, N. Manaresi, M. Tartagni, R. Canegallo, and R. Guerrieri, "On a road tire deformation measurement system using a capacitive–resistive sensor," *Smart materials and structures*, vol. 15, no. 6, p. 1700, 2006.
- [65] S. Kim, "Low power energy harvesting with piezoelectric generator," University of Pittsburgh, 2002.
- [66] J. Lee, J. Oh, H. Kim, and B. Choi, "Strain-based piezoelectric energy harvesting for wireless sensor systems in a tire," *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 1404-1416, 2015.
- [67] R. Taylor, L. Bashford, and M. Schrock, "Methods for measuring vertical tire stiffness," *Transactions of the ASAE*, vol. 43, no. 6, p. 1415, 2000.
- [68] D. Dhasarathy, "Estimation of vertical load on a tire from contact patch length and its use in vehicle stability control," Virginia Tech, 2010.
- [69] V. Vijayalakshmi, J. Rupavani, and N. Krishnamurti, "Effect of anhydride addition to alkyl cyanoacrylate on its adhesive bond durability," *Journal of adhesion science and technology*, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 781-789, 1992.
- [70] D. C. Lam, F. Yang, A. Chong, J. Wang, and P. Tong, "Experiments and theory in strain gradient elasticity," *Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 1477-1508, 2003.
- [71] M. D. Nguyen, E. P. Houwman, and G. Rijnders, "Large piezoelectric strain with ultra-low strain hysteresis in highly c-axis oriented Pb (Zr 0.52 Ti 0.48) O 3 films with columnar growth on amorphous glass substrates," *Scientific reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 12915, 2017.
- [72] D. Garcia-Pozuelo, O. Olatunbosun, J. Yunta, X. Yang, and V. Diaz, "A novel strain-based method to estimate tire conditions using fuzzy logic for intelligent tires," *Sensors*, vol. 17, no. 2, p. 350, 2017.
- [73] Wang, R., Tang, E. and Yang, G., 2019. Dynamic Piezoelectric Properties of PZT 5H Under Shock Compression. physica status solidi (a), 216(6), p.1800859.
- [74] Shigley, J. E., & Mischke, C. R. (1972). Mechanical engineering design (Vol. 7). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- [75] Narita F, Shindo Y, Saito F. Cyclic Fatigue Crack Growth in Three-Point Bending, PZT Ceramics under Electromechanical Loading. J Am Ceram Soc 2007;90(8)., 2517–1524.
- [76] Shindo Y, Narita F, Hirama M. Dynamic fatigue of cracked piezoelectric ceramics under electromechanical loading: three-point bending test and finite element analysis. J Mech Mater Struct 2009;4(4):719–29.
- [77] Zhang TY, Zhao M, Tong P. Fracture of piezoelectric ceramics. Adv Appl Mech, 2002;38:147–289.

- [78] Cao H, Evans AG. Electric-field-induced fatigue crack growth in piezoelectrics. J Am Ceram Soc 1994;77(7):1783–6.
- [79] Tan X, Xu Z, Shang JK, Han P. Direct observations of electric field-induced domain boundary cracking in < 001 > oriented piezoelectric Pb(Mg1/3Nb2/3))3-PbTiO3 single crystal. Appl Phys Lett 2000;77(10):1529–31.
- [80] Upadrashta D, Yang Y. Experimental investigation of performance reliability of fiber composite for piezoelectric energy harvesting applications. Sens Actuat, A 2016;244:223–32
- [81] Jiang Y, Masaoka S, Fujita T, Uehara M, Toyonaga T, Fujii K, et al. Fabrication of a vibration-driven electromagnetic energy harvester with integrated NdFeB/Ta multilayered micro-magnets. J Micromech Microeng 2011;21(9):095014.
- [82] Vysotskyi B, Aubry D, Gaucher P, Le Roux X, Parrain F, Lefeuvre E. Nonlinear electrostatic energy harvester using compensational springs in gravity field. J Micromech Microeng 2018;28(7):074004.
- [83] Mao Y, Zhao P, McConohy G, Yang H, Tong Y, Wang X. Sponge-like piezoelectric polymer films for scalable and integratable nanogenerators and self-powered electronic systems. Adv Energy Mater 2014;4(7):1301624.
- [84] Mazzalai A, Balma D, Chidambaram N, Matloub R, Muralt P. Characterization and fatigue of the converse piezoelectric effect in PZT films for the MEMS applications. J Microelectromech Syst 2015;24(4):831–8
- [85] Wang DP, Carman GP. Combined electrical and mechanical fatigue of piezoelectric ceramics undergoing polarization switching for large displacement actuation. In: Smart Structures and Materials 1998: Smart Structures and Integrated Systems, vol. 3329; 1998. p. 210–222.
- [86] Murri GB. Effect of embedded piezoelectric sensors on fracture toughness and fatigue resistance of composite laminates under mode 1 loading. American Society of Composites 21st Annual Technical Conference. 2006.
- [87] Zhang Y, Glaum J, Ehmke MC, Bowman KJ, Blendell JE, Hoffman MJ. Unipolar fatigue behavior of BCTZ lead-free piezoelectric ceramics. J Am Ceram Soc 2016;99(4):1287–93.
- [88] Gruverman A, Auciello O, Tokumoto H. Nanoscale investigation of fatigue effects in Pb(Zr, Ti)O3 films. Appl Phys Lett 1996;69(21):3191–3.
- [89] Salazar, R., Serrano, M. and Abdelkefi, A., 2020. Fatigue in piezoelectric ceramic vibrational energy harvesting: A review. Applied Energy, 270, p.115161.
- [90] Kang MG, Jung WS, Kang CY, Yoon SJ. Recent Progress on PZT Based Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Technologies. Actuators 2016;5(1):5.

- [91] Gall M, Thielicke B. Fatigue lifetime study of piezoceramic patch transducers. Acta Mech 2013;224(11):2529–45
- [92] Wang D, Fotinich Y, Carman GP. Influence of temperature on the electromechanical and fatigue behavior of piezoelectric ceramics. J Appl Phys 1998;83(10):5342–50
- [93] Klissurska RD, Brooks KG, Setter N. Acceptor dopant effects on endurance of PZT thin films. Ferroelectrics 1999;225(1):171–8.
- [94] Pandey A, Arockiarajan A. Fatigue study on the actuation performance of macro fiber composite (MFC): theoretical and experimental approach. Smart Mater Struct 2017;26(3):035018.
- [95] Upadrashta D, Yang Y. Experimental investigation of performance reliability of macro fiber composite for piezoelectric energy harvesting applications. Sens Actuat, A 2016;244:223–32.
- [96] Mazzalai A, Balma D, Chidambaram N, Matloub R, Muralt P. Characterization and fatigue of the converse piezoelectric effect in PZT films for the MEMS applications. J Microelectromech Syst 2015;24(4):831–8.
- [97] S. K. Clark, "Rolling resistance of pneumatic tires," *Tire Science and Technology*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 163-175, 1978.
- [98] F. Khameneifar and S. Arzanpour, "Energy harvesting from pneumatic tires using piezoelectric transducers," in *ASME Conference Proceedings of SMASIS*, 2008, pp. 333-339.
- [99] K. Yokota, E. Higuchi, and M. Kitagawa, "Estimation of tire temperature distribution and rolling resistance under running conditions including environmental factors," SAE Technical Paper0148-7191, 2012.
- [100] W.-y. Wang, B. Liu, and V. Kodur, "Effect of temperature on strength and elastic modulus of high-strength steel," *Journal of materials in civil engineering*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 174-182, 2012.
- [101] H. Kim, S. Priya, and K. Uchino, "Modeling of piezoelectric energy harvesting using cymbal transducers," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 45, no. 7R, p. 5836, 2006.
- [102] L. Li, J. Xu, J. Liu, and F. Gao, "Recent progress on piezoelectric energy harvesting: structures and materials," *Advanced Composites and Hybrid Materials*, pp. 1-28, 2018.
- [103] H. Chua, B. Kok, and H. Goh, "Modelling and design analyses of a piezoelectric cymbal transducer (PCT) structure for energy harvesting application," *Energy and Sustainability V*, vol. 186, p. 103, 2014.

- [104] H. Zhao, J. Yu, and J. Ling, "Finite element analysis of cymbal piezoelectric transducers for harvesting energy from asphalt pavement," *Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan*, vol. 118, no. 1382, pp. 909-915, 2010.
- [105] A. Daniels, A. Giuliano, M. Zhu, and A. Tiwari, "Modeling, validation and design analyses of a piezoelectric cymbal transducer for non-resonant energy harvesting," in *Green Computing and Communications (GreenCom), 2013 IEEE and Internet of Things (iThings/CPSCom), IEEE International Conference on and IEEE Cyber, Physical and Social Computing*, 2013, pp. 1665-1667: IEEE.
- [106] C. Mo, D. Arnold, W. C. Kinsel, and W. W. Clark, "Modeling and experimental validation of unimorph piezoelectric cymbal design in energy harvesting," *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 828-836, 2013.
- [107] P. Antognetti and G. Massobrio, *Semiconductor device modeling with SPICE*. McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1990.
- [108] P. Ochoa, M. Villegas, J. L. Pons, P. Leidinger, and J. F. FernÁndez, "Tunability of cymbals as piezocomposite transducers," *Journal of electroceramics*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 221-229, 2005.
- [109] <u>https://www.hunter.com/wheel-balancers/road-force-elite</u>.
- [110] N. H. T. S. Administration. "Vehicle Safety Research." Available at: <u>http://www-nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/</u>. Accessed March, 2018.
- [111] Sezer, N. and Koç, M., 2021. A comprehensive review on the state-of-the-art of piezoelectric energy harvesting. Nano Energy, 80, p.105567.